Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Auto Trader Group plc only

1. Our opinion is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc
forthe year ended 31 March 2019 which comprise the Group
Consolidated Balance Sheetand Parent Company Balance Sheet, the
Group Consolidated Income Statement and Group Statement of
Comprehensive Income, the Group Consolidated Statement of Cash

Basis for opinion

We conducted ourauditinaccordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities
are described below. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtainedisasufficientand appropriate basis for our opinion. Our
audit opinionis consistent with our report to the Audit Committee.

Flows, the Group and Parent Company's Statement of Changesin
Equity,and therelated notes, including the accounting policiesin

notel.

In our opinion:

— the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the
Group'sand of the parent Company's affairs as at 31 March 2019 and

of the Group's profit for the year thenended;

— the Group financial statements have been properly preparedin
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as

adopted by the European Union;

— the parent Company financial statements have been properly
preparedinaccordance with UKaccounting standards, including
FRS102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable inthe UK and
Republic of Ireland; and

— the financial statements have been preparedinaccordance with
therequirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We were firstappointed as auditor by the shareholders on

22 September 2016. The period of totaluninterrupted engagementis
forthe three financial years ended 31 March 2019. We have fulfilled
our ethicalresponsibilities under,and we remainindependent of the
Groupinaccordance with, UK ethicalrequirementsincluding the FRC
Ethical Standard as applied to listed publicinterest entities. No
non-audit services prohibited by that standard were provided.

Overview

Materiality:
Group financial £9.6m (2018:£8.0m)
statementsasawhole 4.0%(2018: 3.7%) of Group profit before tax

Coverage 100% (2018:100%) of Group profit before tax

Risks of material misstatement vs 2018

Recurringrisks Revenue recognition

Recoverability of Parent Company’s
investmentinsubsidiary

2. Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements and
include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including those which had
the greatest effect on: the overallaudit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.
We summarise below the key audit matters, inarriving at our audit opinion above, together with our key audit procedures to address those
mattersand, asrequired for publicinterest entities, our results from those procedures. These matters were addressed,and ourresultsare
based onproceduresundertaken,inthe context of, and solely for the purpose of, our audit of the financial statementsasawhole,andin
forming our opinion thereon, and consequently are incidental to that opinion,and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Therisk

Ourresponse

Revenue recognition

(£355.1million;
2018: £330.1million)

Refer to page 60 (Audit
Committee Report), page
90 (accounting policy)and
page 102 (financial
disclosures)

Dataprocessing

Revenue primarily consists of
feesforadvertisingonthe
Group's website. Therearea
large volume of transactions, a
wide variety of packages
available andretailers have the
ability to bespoke the
combination of products they
receive over time. Onthe basis
thatthe packages available
withinthe SingleView revenue
stream are updated manually by
Auto Trader personnelovertime,
we considerasignificantrisk
existsinrelationtorevenue
recognitionbothinrespect of
fraudanderror.

Our proceduresincluded:
- Datacomparisons: Using computer assisted audit techniques to match sales
information from the billing system to the accounting records;

- Tests of details: Using computer assisted audit techniques to match entire
population of billings to cashreceived during the year and trade debtors outstanding
attheyearend. Selectingasample of trade debtors and assessing their recoverability
withreference to postyearend cashreceipts;

- Expectation vs outcome: For customers with bespoke contracts, obtaining these
contractsand forming an expectation of the revenue to be recognisedin the period,
comparing thisto the actual;

- Tests of details: Selecting asample of transactions recorded withinamonth before
and afterthe period end and assessing whetherrevenue has beenrecognisedinthe
correct period withreference tosupportinginvoices and cashreceipts;

- Tests of details: Assessing the appropriateness of accruedincome at the yearend
withreference to postyear endbillings and cashreceipts. Assessing the
appropriateness of deferredincome atthe year end with reference to the prioryear
and our knowledge of the billing pattern of each revenue stream;

- Tests of details: Performing areview of credit notesraisedin the yearand postyear
endtoassesstheadequacy of the credit note provision and thatrevenue is not
overstated; and

- Analytic sampling: Obtaining alljournals postedtorevenue and, using computer
assisted audit techniques, analysing these toidentify those with unusual attributes or
those with corresponding postings to unexpected accounts. Agreeing any journals
identified back torelevant supporting documentation.

Ourresults:
- We found the amount of revenue recognised to be acceptable (2018: acceptable).
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Auto Trader Group plc only continued

Therisk Ourresponse
Recoverability of parent Lowrisk, highvalue: Ourproceduresincluded:
company’sinvestment 1,6 carrying amount of the - Comparingvaluations: comparing the carryingamount of the investment to the
insubsidiary parentcompany’sinvestmentin  market capitalisation of the Group, as all of the Group’s trading operations are
(£1,216.0 million ; 2018: subsidiary represents 95% (2018: contained within the subsidiary andits subgroup.
£1,212.9 million) 73%) of the company’s total Ourresults:

Refer to page 60 (Audit assets. Itsrecoverabilityisnotat

Committee Report), page @ h|gh risk ofmgmﬁca‘nt

132 (accounting policy) and Misstatementorsubject to

page 135 (financial &gmﬁc_ant;udg‘emen.t. However,

disclosures). duetoitsmaterialityin the
context of the parentcompany
financial statements, thisis
consideredtobetheareathat
hadthe greatesteffectonour
overall parent company audit.

- We found the Parent Company's assessment of the recoverability of the investment
insubsidiary to be acceptable (2018 result: acceptable).

3. Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit
Materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was setat £9.6m (2018: £8.0m), determined with reference to abenchmark of Group
profitbefore tax of £242.2m (2018: £210.7m), of which itrepresents 4.0% (2018: 3.8%).

The materiality of the Parent Company financial statements as a whole was setat £5.0m (2018: £5.0m), determined withreference to a
benchmark of Parent Company netassets, of whichitrepresents 0.4% (2018: 0.4%).

We reportedto the Audit Committee any corrected oruncorrected identified misstatements exceeding £0.5m (2018: £0.4m), in addition to
otheridentified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Of the Group’s 4 (2018: 4) reporting components, we subjected 4 (2018: 4) to full scope audits for Group purposes, all of which were performed
by the Group audit team.

The components within the scope of our work accounted for the percentagesillustrated below.

Profit before tax Group materiality Group revenue Group profit before tax
£242.2m (2018: £210.7m) £9.6m (2018: £8m) % %

£9.6m

Whole financial statements
materiality (2018: £8m)
£9.Im

Range of materiality at 4
components (£9.1m-£0.2m) (2018:100%) (2018:100%)
(2018: £7.5mto £0.2m)

£0.5m
Misstatements reported to the

@ Profit before tax Audit Committee (2018: £0.4m)
@ Group materiality Group total assets

%

~100%

(2018:100%)

@ Full scope for Group audit purposes 2019
® Full scope for Group audit purposes 2018
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4. We have nothing to report on going concern

The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the going
concernbasisastheydonotintendto liquidate the Company or the
Group or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that
the Company’s and the Group's financial position means that thisis
realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material
uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability
tocontinue asagoing concern for atleastayear from the date of
approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).

Ourresponsibilityis to conclude on the appropriateness of the
Directors’ conclusionsand, had there been a materialuncertainty
related to going concern, to make reference to thatin thisaudit
report. However,as we cannot predict all future events or conditions
and as subsequent events may resultin outcomes thatare
inconsistent withjudgements that were reasonable at the time they
were made, the absence of reference to a materialuncertainty in this
auditor'sreportis nota guarantee that the Group and the Company
will continue in operation.

Inour evaluation of the Directors’ conclusions, we considered the
inherentrisks to the Group’s and Company’s business model, and
analysed how those risks might affect the Group’sand Company’s
financialresources or ability to continue operations over the going
concern period.

We evaluated those risks and concluded that they were not
significant enough to require us to perform additional audit
procedures.

Based onthiswork, we arerequired toreport toyouif:

— we have anything material to add or draw attentiontoinrelation to
the Directors’ statementinnotelto the financial statements on the
use of the going concern basis of accounting with no material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt over the Group and
Company's use of that basis fora period of at least12 months from
the date of approval of the financial statements; or

— therelated statementunder the Listing Rules set outonpage 77 is
materially inconsistent with our audit knowledge.

We have nothing toreportintheserespects,and we did notidentify
going concern asakey audit matter.

5. We have nothing to report on the other information

in the Annual Report

The Directors are responsible for the otherinformation presentedin
the Annual Report together with the financial statements. Our
opiniononthe financial statements does not cover the other
informationand, accordingly, we do not express anaudit opinion or,
exceptasexplicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

Ourresponsibilityistoread the otherinformationand,in doing so,
consider whether,based on our financial statements audit work, the
information thereinis materially misstated orinconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that
work we have notidentified material misstatementsin the other
information.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

Based solely on our work on the otherinformation:

— we have notidentified material misstatementsin the strategic
reportand the directors' report;

—inouropiniontheinformation giveninthosereports forthe
financialyearis consistent with the financial statements; and

—inouropinionthosereports have been preparedinaccordance
with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ Remuneration Report

Inour opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to
be audited has been properly preparedinaccordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

Disclosures of principal risks and longer-term viability

Based on the knowledge we acquired during our financial statements

audit, we have nothing material to add or draw attention toin relation

to:

— the Directors’ confirmation within the Viability statement page 34
thatthey have carried outarobustassessment of the principal risks
facing the Group, including those that would threatenits business
model, future performance, solvency and liquidity;

— the Principal Risks disclosures describing these risks and explaining
how they are being managed and mitigated; and

— the Directors’ explanationin the Viability statement of how they
have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period they
have done soand why they considered that period to be
appropriate,and their statementas to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continuein
operationand meetits liabilities as they fall due over the period of
theirassessment,including any related disclosures drawing
attention toanynecessary qualifications orassumptions.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the Viability
statement. We have nothing toreportin thisrespect.

Ourworkislimited to assessing these mattersin the context of only
the knowledge acquired during our financial statements audit. As we
cannot predictall future events or conditions and as subsequent
events mayresultinoutcomesthatareinconsistent with judgements
that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of
anything toreportonthese statementsisnota guaranteeasto the
Group’'sand Company'’s longer-term viability.

Corporate governance disclosures
We arerequiredtoreporttoyouif:

— we have identified materialinconsistencies betweenthe
knowledge we acquired during our financial statements auditand
the Directors’ statement that they consider that the annualreport
and financial statements takenasawhole s fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group's positionand performance,
business modeland strategy; or

— the section of the annualreportdescribing the work of the Audit
Committee does notappropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

— Wearerequiredtoreporttoyouif the Corporate Governance
Statementdoes not properly disclose adeparture from the eleven
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified by the
Listing Rules for our review.

We have nothing toreportinthese respects.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Auto Trader Group plc only continued

6. We have nothing to report on the other matters on

which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required toreporttoyouif,in
our opinion:

— adequate accounting records have not beenkept by the parent
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not beenreceived
frombranches notvisited by us; or

— the parent Company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’' Remuneration Reportto be audited are notinagreement
with the accounting recordsandreturns; or

— certaindisclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are
notmade; or

— we have notreceivedall the information and explanations we
require for our audit.

We have nothing toreportintheserespects.

7. Respective responsibilities

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 77, the
Directorsareresponsible for: the preparation of the financial
statementsincluding being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view; suchinternalcontrolas they determineis necessarytoenable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group
and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, asapplicable, mattersrelated to going concern; and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless they eitherintend to
liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease operations, or
have norealisticalternative butto do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities

Ourobjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as awhole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or otherirregularities (see below), or error,and
toissue ouropinioninanauditors’ report. Reasonable assuranceisa
high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit
conductedinaccordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement whenit exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud,
otherirregularities or errorand are considered material if, individually
orinaggregate, they could reasonably be expected toinfluence the
economicdecisions of users taken on the basis of the financial
statements.

Afuller description of ourresponsibilitiesis provided onthe FRC's
website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

Irregularities — ability to detect

Ourobjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as awhole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or otherirregularities (see below), or error,and
toissue ouropinioninanauditors’ report. Reasonable assuranceisa
high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit
conductedinaccordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement whenit exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud,
otherirregularities or errorand are considered material if, individually
orinaggregate, they could reasonably be expected toinfluence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial
statements.

Afuller description of ourresponsibilitiesis provided onthe FRC's
website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be
expected tohave amaterialeffectonthe financial statements from
our generalcommercialand sector experience, through discussion
with the Directors (as required by auditing standards),and discussed
with the Directors the policies and proceduresregarding compliance
with laws andregulations. We communicated identified laws and
regulations throughout ourteamandremained alertto any
indications of non-compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial
statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Groupis subject tolaws and regulations that directly
affect the financial statementsincluding financialreporting
legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable
profits legislation, and taxation legislation and we assessed the
extentof compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our
proceduresontherelated financial statementitems.

Whilst the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations, we did
notidentify any others where the consequences of non-compliance
alone could have amaterial effect onamounts or disclosuresin the
financial statements.

Owingto theinherentlimitations of anaudit, thereisanunavoidable
risk that we may not have detected some material misstatementsin
the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and
performed ourauditinaccordance with auditing standards. For
example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations (irregularities) is from the events and transactions
reflectedinthe financial statements, the less likely the inherently
limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

Inaddition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of
non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion,
forgery,intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal controls. We are not responsible for preventing
non-compliance and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance
withalllaws and regulations.

8. The purpose of our audit work and to

whom we owe our responsibilities

Thisreportis made solely to the Company’s members, asabody,in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Ourauditworkhas beenundertaken so that we might state to the
Company’'s members those matters we are required to state to
theminanauditors’ reportand forno other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do notaccept orassume responsibility
toanyone other thanthe Company and the Company’s members,
asabody, forouraudit work, for thisreport, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Mick Davies (Senior Statutory Auditor)

forand on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

1St Peter'sSquare

Manchester

M2 3AE

6June 2019
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Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 March 2019

(Restated)’
2019 2018
Note £m £m
Revenue 5 355.1 330.1
Administrative expenses (112.3) (108.8)
Share of profit fromjoint ventures 16 0.9 -
Operating profit 6 243.7 221.3
Finance costs 9 (10.2) (10.6)
Profiton the sale of subsidiary 10 8.7 -
Profit before taxation 242.2 210.7
Taxation 11 (44.5) (39.6)
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 197.7 1711
Basic earnings per share 12
From profit for the year (pence per share) 21.00 17.74
Diluted earnings per share 12
From profit for the year (pence per share) 20.94 17.68

1 The Group hasadoptedIFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, IFRS15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’,and IFRS16 ‘Leases’ from1April 2018. The year ended 31
March 2018 has beenrestated for IFRS 16 which was implemented using the fully retrospective method. For furtherinformation on the impact of the change in

accounting policies, see note 2 of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 March 2019

(Restated)'
2019 2018
Note £m £m
Profit for the year 197.7 1711
Other comprehensiveincome
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences ontranslation of foreign operations (0.1) 0.2
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations 24 0.2 -
Othercomprehensiveincome for the year, net of tax 0.1 0.2
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 197.8 171.3

1 The Group hasadopted IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, IFRS15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, and IFRS16 ‘Leases’ from1April2018. The year ended 31
March 2018 has beenrestated for IFRS16 which was implemented using the fully retrospective method. For furtherinformation on the impact of the changein

accounting policies, see note 2 of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet

@
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(Restated)’ I
2019 2018 §
Note £m £m 0,
()
Assets 2
Non-current assets g
Intangible assets 13 317.5 329.8 3
Property,plantand equipment 14 16.7 19.7 ’
Deferred taxationassets 23 6.2 53
Netinvestmentsinjointventures 16 49.0 -
389.4 354.8
Currentassets
Trade and otherreceivables 18 56.1 54.9
Cashand cash equivalents 19 5.9 4.3
62.0 59.2
Total assets 451.4 414.0
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital 25 9.3 9.5
Retained earnings 1,095.8 1,042.7
Capitalreorganisationreserve (1,060.8) (1,060.8)
Ownshares held 26 (16.5) (16.9)
Capitalredemptionreserve 0.7 0.5
Otherreserves 30.5 30.6
Total equity 59.0 5.6
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 21 310.3 340.8
Deferred taxation liabilities 23 0.5 0.7
Retirement benefit obligations 24 - -
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 22 1.0 -
Lease liabilities 15 14.3 16.0
3261 3575
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 41.8 28.5
Currentincome taxliabilities 22.4 19.9
Lease liabilities 15 1.8 2.2
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 22 0.3 0.3
66.3 50.9
Totalliabilities 392.4 408.4
Total equity and liabilities 451.4 414.0

1 The Group hasadoptedIFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’,IFRS15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’,and IFRS16 ‘Leases’ from1April 2018. The year ended 31
March 2018 has beenrestated for IFRS 16 which was implemented using the fully retrospective method. For furtherinformation on the impact of the change in
accounting policies, see note 2 of these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 June 2019 and authorised forissue.

Nathan Coe
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer-designate
Auto Trader Group plc

Registered number 09439967
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Capital Capital
Share Retained Ownshares reorganisation redemption Other Total
capital earnings held reserve reserve reserves equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at March 2017 as previously
reported 9.8 1,015.9 (16.9) (1,060.8) 0.2 30.4 (21.4)
Impactinchange of accounting policy - 1.2 - - - - 1.2
Restated balance at 31 March 2017 9.8 1,0174 (16.9) (1,060.8) 0.2 30.4 (20.2)
Profit for the year (restated) - 1711 - - - - 1711
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences - - - - - 0.2 0.2
Totalcomprehensiveincome, net of tax - 1711 - - - 0.2 171.3
Transactions with owners
Employee share schemes - value of
employee services 29 - 3.3 - - - - 3.3
Deferredtaxonshare-based payments 23 - 0.1 - - - - 0.1
Cancellation of shares 25 (0.3) (96.7) - - 0.3 - (96.7)
Dividends paid 27 - (52.2) - - - - (52.2)
Total transactions with owners,
recogniseddirectly inequity (0.3) (145.5) - - 0.3 - (145.5)
Balance at March 2018 (restated)’ 9.5 1,042.7 (16.9) (1,060.8) 0.5 30.6 5.6
Profit forthe year - 197.7 - - - - 197.7
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences - - - - - (0.) (0.1)
Remeasurements of post-employment
benefitobligations 24 - 0.2 - - - - 0.2
Totalcomprehensive income, net of tax - 1979 - - - (0.) 197.8
Transactions with owners
Employee share schemes - value of
employee services 29 - 4.7 - - - - 4.7
Exercise of employee share schemes - (3.7) 5.6 - - - 19
Transfer of shares from ESOT 26 - (0.6) 0.6 - - - -
Taximpact of employee share schemes - 0.6 - - - - 0.6
Cancellation of shares 25 (0.2) (88.2) - - 0.2 - (88.2)
Acquisition of treasury shares 26 - - (5.8) - - - (5.8)
Dividends paid 27 - (57.6) - - - - (57.6)
Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity (0.2) (144.8) 04 - 0.2 - (144.4)
Balance at March 2019 9.3 1,095.8 (16.5) (1,060.8) 0.7 30.5 59.0

1 The Group hasadopted IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’,and IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ from1April 2018. The year ended 31
March 2018 has beenrestated for IFRS16 which was implemented using the fully retrospective method. For furtherinformation on the impact of the changein
accounting policies, see note 2 of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 March 2019

(Restated)’
2019 2018
Note £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 28 258.5 228.4
Income taxes paid (42.2) (39.4)
Net cash generated from operating activities 216.3 189.0

Cash flows frominvesting activities
Purchases of intangible assets - financial systems (0.3) (0.3)
Purchases of intangible assets - other (0.3) (0.3)
Purchases of property, plantand equipment (1.7) (2.3)
Payment foracquisition of sharesinjointventures 16 (19.7) -
Payment foracquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 30 - (1.9)
Net cash used ininvesting activities (22.0) (14.8)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders 27 (57.6) (52.2)
Repayment of Syndicated Term Loan 21 (343.0) (20.0)
Drawdown of Syndicated revolving credit facility 21 4471 -
Repayment of Syndicated revolving credit facility 21 (134.) -
Payment of refinancing fees 21 (3.3) -
Payment of interest onborrowings 32 (6.6) (6.7)
Payment of lease liabilities (31) (2.3)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation 25 (87.7) (96.2)
Purchase of own shares for treasury 26 (5.8) -
Payment of fees onrepurchase of own shares 25 (0.5) (0.5)
Proceeds from exercise of share-based incentives 1.9 -
Net cash used in financing activities (192.7) (1779)
Netdecrease in cash and cash equivalents 1.6 (3.7)
Cashand cash equivalents at beginning of year 19 4.3 8.0
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19 5.9 4.3

1 The Group hasadoptedIFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, IFRS15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’,and IFRS16 ‘Leases’ from1April 2018. The year ended 31
March 2018 has beenrestated for IFRS 16 which was implemented using the fully retrospective method. For furtherinformation on the impact of the change in

accounting policies, see note 2 of these consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

Auto Trader Group plcisapublic limited company whichis listed on the London Stock Exchange and is domiciled and incorporatedinthe
United Kingdomunder the Companies Act 2006. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as atand for the year ended 31 March
2019 comprise the Company anditsinterestin subsidiaries (togetherreferred to as the Group).

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as atand for the year ended 31 March 2019 are available uponrequest to the Company
Secretary fromthe Company’sregistered office at 4th floor,1 Tony Wilson Place, Manchester, M154FN or are available on the corporate
website at plc.autotrader.co.uk.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been preparedinaccordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS’) as adopted
by the European Union (‘EU’), IFRS Interpretation Committee (‘IFRSIC’), certaininterpretations as adopted by the EU,and the Companies Act
2006 applicable to companiesreportingunder IFRS.

Thisisthe first set of the Group's full financial statements where IFRS 9, IFRS15and IFRS 16 have been applied. Changes to significant
accounting policies are describedinnote 2.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and under the historical cost convention.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Control exists when the Group has existing rights that give it the ability to direct
therelevantactivities of an entity and has the ability to affect the returns the Group will receive as aresult of itsinvolvement with the entity. In
assessing control, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of
subsidiaries areincludedinthe consolidated financial statements from the date that controlcommences until the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accountingis used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of anacquisitionis
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instrumentsissued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Costs
directly attributable to the acquisition are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumedina
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling
interest. The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interestin the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interestin the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquiredis recorded as goodwill. If the
total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interestrecognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the
netassets of the subsidiary acquiredin the case of abargain purchase, the differenceisrecognised directly in the income statement.

Intercompany transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation.

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significantinfluence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between
20%and 50% of the voting rights. Where significantinfluence is not demonstrated but the shareholdingis between 20% and 50% the Group
would account foritsinterestasaninvestment. Allinvestments are initially recognised at costand the carrying value is reviewed for
impairment.

During the year the Group disposed of a subsidiary (Auto Trader Auto Stock Ltd) as part consideration for the interestin the joint venture
(Dealer Auction (Holdings) Ltd). As part of this transaction, the Group has elected to apply the IAS 28 approach. Under this approach, the gain
orlossiseliminated to the extent of the retained interestin the former subsidiary.

Going concern

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2019 the Group has continued to generate significant cash and has an overall positive net asset position.
The Group had cash balances of £5.9m at 31 March 2019 (2018: £4.3m). During the year £151.1m (2018: £148.4m) of cash was returned to
shareholdersvia dividends and discretionary share buybacks.

During the year the Group enteredinto a five-year Syndicated revolving credit facility and repaid the former Syndicated Term Loan. The facility
has total commitments of £400.0m and a termination date of June 2023. At 31 March 2019 the Group had £313.0m of the facility drawn (2018:
£343.0munder Syndicated Term Loan).

The Directors, after making enquiries and on the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, believe that the Group has
adequate financialresources to continue in operation for a period not less than12 months from the date of thisreport. For thisreason, they
continue to adopt the going concern basisin preparing the financial statements.
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Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain accounting estimates and assumptions. It also
requires managementto exerciseitsjudgementin the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgements are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to
bereasonable under the circumstances.

There are noaccounting estimates or judgements which are critical to the reporting of results of operations and financial position.

The accounting estimates believed to require the most difficult, subjective or complex judgements are as follows:
- carrying values of goodwill; and
- share-based payments.

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairmentinaccordance with the accounting policy stated withinnote 2. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based onvalue-in-use calculations, which require the use of estimates
(note13).

Share-based paymentarrangementsin which the Group receives goods or services as consideration forits own equity instruments are
accounted foras equity-settled share-based payment transactions. The fair value of services receivedinreturn for share optionsis
calculated with reference to the fair value of the award on the date of grant. Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo models have been used where
appropriate to calculate the fair value and the Directors have therefore made estimates with regard to the inputs to that modeland the period
over which the share awardis expected to vest (note 29).

Changes in significant accounting policies

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following new standards, and amendments to standards, have been adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial year
beginning on1April 2018:

- IFRS 9, Financial Instruments;

- IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers;

- IFRS16, Leases;

- Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment Transactions - Amendments to IFRS 2;
- Annuallmprovements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle; and

- Interpretation 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration.

Theimpacts of adopting IFRS 9, IFRS15and IFRS 16 have been detailed in section (c) below. The adoption of the remaining standards have had
no material effect onthe Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted
by the Group

Certainnew accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 March 2019 reporting periods and
have notbeenearly adopted by the Group:

- IFRIC 23, Uncertainty overincome tax treatments wasissuedin June 2017. IFRIC 23 explains how to recognise and measure deferred and
currentincome taxassets and liabilities where thereisuncertainty over atax treatment. The Group has notadopted IFRIC 23 before its
mandatory date whichis for financial years commencing on or after1January 2019. This standard is not expected to have a significant effect
onthe Group's financial statements.

(c) Impact of adoption of IFRS 9,15 and 16 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15 establishesa comprehensive framework for determining whether,how much and whenrevenueisrecognised. Itreplaced IAS18
Revenue andrelatedinterpretations. The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the retrospective method and therefore the effect of applying IFRS
15to the comparative period has been considered.

UnderIAS18 revenue was recognised either over time where there was continuing service provided by the Group to the customer or at the
pointin time when the risks and rewards of ownership transferred to the customer. Under IFRS 15 revenueis recognised when performance
obligations are satisfied. For the Group the transfer of controlunder IFRS 15 and satisfaction of performance obligations remains consistent
with the transfer of risks and rewards to the customer underIAS 18. Consequently, there were no profit or loss impacting adjustments required
onapplication of IFRS15.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Accounting policy for revenue
Revenueis measured based onthe consideration specifiedinacontract withacustomerandisrecognised whena customer obtains control
of the services. Revenueis stated net of discounts, rebates, refunds and value-added tax.

Revenue principally represents the amountsreceivable from customers for advertising on the Group's platforms but alsoincludes non-
advertising services suchas dataservices. The different types of products and services offered to customers along with the nature and
timing of satisfaction of performance obligations are set out below:

(i) Traderevenue
Trade revenue comprises fees from Retailers, Home Traders and logistics customers for advertising on the Group's platforms and utilising the
Group'sservices.

Retailerrevenue

Retailer customers pay a monthly subscription fee to advertise their stock onthe Group’s platforms. Controlis obtained by customers
acrossthelife of the contractas their stockis continually listed. Contracts for these services are agreed at aretailer or retailer group level
andare ongoing subject toa30-day notice period.

Retailershave the optionto enhance their presence on the platform through additional products, each of which has a distinct performance
obligation. For products that provide enhanced exposure across the life of the product, controlis passed to the customer over time.
Revenueisonlyrecognisedatapointintime foradditionaladvertising products where the customer does notreceive the benefit until they
choosetoapply the product. Additionaladvertising products are principally billed on a monthly subscription basis inline with their core
advertising package, however certain products are billed on anindividual charge basis.

The Group also generates revenue fromretailers for dataand valuation services under a variety of contractual arrangements, with each
service being aseparate performance obligation. Controlis obtained by customers either across the life of the contract where customers
arelicensedtouse the Group's services oratapointintime whenaone-off dataserviceis provided.

Contract modifications occur onaregular basis as customers change their stock levels oradd or remove additional advertising products
from their contracts. Following a contract modification, the customeris billed in line with the delivery of the remaining performance
obligations. Areceivableisrecognised only when the Group’s right to considerationis only conditional on the passage of time.

Home Traderrevenue

Home Trader customers pay a feeinadvance to advertise a vehicle on the Group's platform for a specified period of time. Revenue is
deferred untilthe customer obtains controlover the services. Controlis obtained by customers across the life of the contract as their
vehicleis continually listed. Contracts for these services are enteredinto for a period of between two and three weeks.

Logisticsrevenue

Logistics customers pay amonthly subscription fee foraccess to the Group’s Motor Trade Delivery platform. Controlis obtained by
customers across the life of the contract as theiraccessis continuous. Contracts for these services are agreed atacustomer leveland are
ongoing subjecttoa 30-day notice period.

Logistics customers have the option to bid onvehicle moves advertised by retailers onthe platform. The logistics customer paysafee if
theyare successfulin obtaining business from retailers through the Group’s marketplace. Revenue isrecognised at the pointin time when
the vehicle move hasbeencompleted. Areceivableisrecognised only when the Group’s right to considerationis only conditionalon the
passage of time.

(i) Consumer Services revenue

Consumer Services comprises fees from private sellers for vehicle advertisements on the Group's websites, and third-party partners who
provide services to consumersrelating to their motoring needs, such asinsurance and loan finance. Private customers pay afee inadvance to
advertise avehicle onthe Group’s platform for a specified period of time. Controlis obtained by customers across the life of the contractas
their stockis continually listed. Contracts for these services are entered into for a period of between two and six weeks. Revenue is generated
from third-party partners who utilise the Group’s platforms to advertise their products under a variety of contractual arrangements, with each
service being aseparate performance obligation. Controlis obtained by customers atapointintime when the serviceis provided.

(iii) Manufacturer and Agency revenue

Revenueis generated from manufacturers and theiradvertising agencies for placing display advertising for their brand or vehicle on the
Group's websites under avariety of contractual arrangements, with each service being a separate performance obligation. Controlis
obtained by customersacross the life of the contractas theiradvertising is displayed on the different platforms. Areceivable is recognised
onlywhen the Group'sright to considerationis only conditional on the passage of time.
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IFRS16 Leases

IFRS16 Leases wasissuedinJanuary 2016, and was endorsed by the EUin 2017. IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance including IAS 17 Leases,
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard s effective forannual periods beginning on or after1January 2019. The Group
has elected to early adopt IFRS 16, with a date of initial application of 1 April 2018, using the fully retrospective approach. Comparative
information has therefore beenrestated.

The adoption of IFRS16 had a materialimpact on the Group's financial statements with the recognition of new right of use assets and lease
liabilities on the Group's Consolidated balance sheet. The nature of expensesrelated to those leases has also changed as the straight-line
operating lease expense has beenreplaced with adepreciation charge forright of use assets and interest expense on lease liabilities.

Accounting policy for leases

Atinception of acontract, the Group assesses whether or notacontractis, or contains, alease. Acontractis, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys theright to control the use of anidentified asset foraperiod of time in exchange for consideration. When a lease isrecognisedina
contract the Group recognises aright of use assetandalease liability at the lease commencement date.

Theright of use assetisinitially measured at cost, which comprises the initialamount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease prepayments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costsincurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or torestore the underlying asset or the site on whichitislocated, less any lease incentivesreceived. Theright of use assetis
subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right
of use assetor the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right of use assets are determined on the same basis as those of
property, plantand equipment. Inaddition, the right of use assetis periodically reduced by impairmentlosses, if any,and adjusted for certain
re-measurements of the lease liability.

The lease liabilityisinitially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted
using theinterestrate implicitinthe lease or, if thatrate cannot be readily determined, the Group’sincremental borrowing rate. The weighted
averageincremental borrowingrate used to measure the lease liability atinitialapplication was 4.9%.

The lease liability is measured atamortised cost using the effective interest method. Itisre-measured when thereisachangein future lease
payments arising fromachangeinanindexorrate, orif the Group changesits assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option.

The Group presentsright of use assetsin property, plantand equipment and leased liabilitiesin lease liabilities in the balance sheet.

The Group has applied the recognition exemption of low value leases. For these leases, the lease payments are charged to theincome
statementonastraight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Adopting this standard using the retrospective approach resultedina £0.7m credit to Operating profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018:
£0.7m credit to Operating profit).

IFRS 9 Financialinstruments

IFRS 9 sets outrequirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial
items. This standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on
orafter1January 2018 and simplifies the classification of financial assets for measurement purposes. Comparative information has not been
restated and continuesto bereportedunder IAS 39.

The Group has applied IFRS9 from1April 2018 with the measurement of financial assets,andin particular the provision for trade receivables,
being considered. There hasbeennoimpact ontheincome statement or balance sheet following the adoption of IFRS 9.

Accounting policy for financialinstruments
IFRS 9 eliminates the previous IAS 39 category for financial assets of loans and receivables. Under IFRS 9, oninitial recognition, a financial asset
is classified as measured at: amortised cost, fair value through profit or loss or fair value though other comprehensive income.

Afinancialassetis measured atamortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions:itis held within a business model whose objective
istohold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principalandinterest on the principalamount outstanding.

UnderIFRS 9, trade receivables, without a significant financing component, are classified and held atamortised cost, being initially measured
atthe transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost less anyimpairment loss.

IFRS9introducesan ‘expected credit loss’ model (‘ECL) for recognising impairment of financial assets held at amortised cost. The Group has
electedtomeasure loss allowances for trade receivables atanamount equal to lifetime ECLs. Credit losses are measured as the present value
of allcash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entityinaccordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expectstoreceive).
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The Group assumes that the creditrisk onafinancial asset hasincreased significantlyif itis more than 30 days past due. The Group assesses
whetherafinancialassetisindefault onacase by case basiswhenitbecomes probable that the customeris unlikely to payits credit
obligations. The gross carryingamount of a financial assetis written off when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering a
financialassetinits entirety oraportion thereof. Forall customers, the Group individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and
amount of write-off based on whether thereisareasonable expectation of recovery. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that are written of f could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Ateachreporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried atamortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial assetis
‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have adetrimentalimpact on the estimated future cash flows of the financialassethave
occurred.

The following table providesinformation about the exposure to credit riskand expected credit losses for trade receivablesas at1April 2018.

Lossrate % Gross Loss Net

Current 0.5% 22.0 01 21.9
Pastdue1-30 days 0.8% 2.9 - 2.9
Pastdue 31-60 days 2.5% 0.5 - 0.5
Past due 61-90 days 35.0% - - -
More than 91days past due 971% 3.4 3.3 01
28.8 3.4 254

The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect onthe Group’s accounting policies related to financial liabilities.

Accounting policy for financialinstrumentsin 2018

The Group classifiesits financial assetsin the categories of loans and receivables and at fair value through profit or loss. The classification
dependsonthe purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at
initialrecognition. The Group assesses at the end of eachreporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financialasset or group
of financialassetsisimpaired. Afinancial assetisimpaired onlyif there is objective evidence of impairmentas aresult of one or more events
thatoccurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that this event hasanimpact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assetthatcanbereliably estimated. The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carryingamountand the
presentvalue of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the
assetisreducedandthe amountof the lossisrecognisedintheincome statement. If,in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
lossdecreased and the decrease can berelated objectively toaneventoccurring after the impairment was recognised, the reversal of the
previously recognisedimpairmentlossis credited to the income statement.

Loans andreceivablesare non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quotedinanactive market. They
areincludedincurrentassets, except for maturities greater than12 months after the balance sheet date which are classified as non-current
assets. The Group'sloansandreceivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalentsin the balance sheet.

Tradereceivables are recognisedinitially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision forimpairment. A provision forimpairment of trade receivablesis established when there is objective evidence that the Group will
notbeable to collectallamounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least12 months after the reporting date.

Financialassetsand liabilities are offsetand the netamountreportedin the balance sheet when thereisalegally enforceableright to offset
therecognised amountsand thereisanintentionto settle onanetbasis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Impact of adoption of IFRS 9,15 and 16 on the financial statements

The following statements summarise the impacts of adopting IFRS16 on the Group’s Consolidated statement of comprehensive Income,
Consolidated balance sheetandits Consolidated statement of cash flows as at and for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the comparative
year. The adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 have had no material effect on the Group’s Consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
Consolidated balance sheetandits Consolidated statement of cash flows.
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2019 2018
£m £m
Under As

previous IFRS 16 2019 previously IFRS 16 2018

policy adjustments Reported reported adjustments Restated

Note £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 5 355.1 - 355.1 330.1 - 330.1

Administrative expenses (113.0) 0.7 (112.3) (109.5) 0.7 (108.8)

Share of profit fromjoint ventures 16 0.9 - 0.9 - - -

Operating profit 243.0 0.7 243.7 220.6 0.7 221.3

Finance costs (9.3) (0.9) (10.2) (9.8) (0.8) (10.6)

Profiton disposal of subsidiary, net of tax 10 8.7 - 8.7 - - -

Profit before taxation 242.4 (0.2) 242.2 210.8 (0.1) 210.7

Taxation il (44.5) = (44.5) (39.5) (0.) (39.6)

Profit for the year 197.9 (0.2) 197.7 171.3 (0.2) 1711

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 0.1 - 0.1 0.2 - 0.2
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable

to equity holders of the parent 198.0 (0.2) 197.8 171.5 (0.2) 171.3

Basic earnings per share 12 21.02 (0.02) 21.00 17.76 (0.02) 17.74

Diluted earnings pershare 12 20.96 (0.02) 20.94 17.70 (0.02) 17.68
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Impact on the Consolidated balance sheet

2019 2018
£m £m
Under As
previous IFRS 16 2019 previously IFRS 16 2018
policy adjustments Reported reported adjustments Restated
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 317.5 - 317.5 329.8 - 329.8
Property, plantand equipment 14 4.8 1.9 16.7 6.0 13.7 19.7
Deferred taxationassets 23 5.9 0.3 6.2 51 0.2 53
Netinvestmentsinjointventures 16 49.0 - 49.0 - - -
377.2 12.2 389.4 340.9 13.9 354.8
Current assets
Trade and otherreceivables 18 56.7 (0.6) 56.1 55.5 (0.6) 54.9
Cashand cashequivalents 19 5.9 - 5.9 4.3 - 4.3
62.6 (0.6) 62.0 59.8 (0.6) 59.2
Total assets 439.8 1.6 451.4 400.7 13.3 414.0
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital 25 9.3 - 9.3 9.5 - 9.5
Retained earnings 1,094.9 0.9 1,095.8 1,041.7 1.0 1,042.7
Capitalreorganisationreserve (1,060.8) - (1,060.8) (1,060.8) - (1,060.8)
Ownshares held 26 (16.5) - (16.5) (16.9) - (16.9)
Capitalredemptionreserve 0.7 - 0.7 0.5 - 0.5
Otherreserves 30.5 = 30.5 30.6 - 30.6
Total equity 58.1 0.9 59.0 4.6 1.0 5.6
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 21 310.3 - 310.3 340.8 - 340.8
Deferred taxation liabilities 23 0.5 - 0.5 0.7 - 0.7
Retirement benefit obligations 24 - - - - - -
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 22 11 (0.) 1.0 11 (1.1) -
Lease liabilities 15 - 14.3 14.3 - 16.0 16.0
31.9 14.2 326.1 342.6 14.9 3575
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 471 (5.3) 41.8 33.3 (4.8) 28.5
Currentincome tax liabilities 22.4 - 22.4 19.9 - 19.9
Lease liabilities 15 - 1.8 1.8 - 2.2 2.2
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 22 0.3 - 0.3 0.3 - 0.3
69.8 (3.5) 66.3 53.5 (2.6) 50.9
Total liabilities 381.7 10.7 392.4 396.1 12.3 408.4
Total equity and liabilities 439.8 1.6 451.4 400.7 13.3 414.0
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2019 2018
£m £m
Under As
previous IFRS 16 2019 previously IFRS 16 2018
policy adjustments Reported reported adjustments Restated
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m
Profit for the year 242.4 (0.2) 242.2 210.8 (0.) 210.7
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 14 2.9 2.0 4.9 3.0 1.9 49
Amortisation 13 4.0 - 4.0 41 - 41
Share-based payments charge (excluding associated NI) 4.7 - 4.7 3.3 - 3.3
Share of profitinjointventures 16 (0.9) - (0.9) - - -
Profitonsale of fixed assets 0.1 = 01 - - -
Difference between pension charge and cash contributions 0.3 = 0.3 - - -
Finance costs 9 9.3 0.9 10.2 9.8 0.8 10.6
Profitondisposal of subsidiary 10 (8.7) = (8.7) - - -
Changesinworking capital (excluding the effects of
exchange differences on consolidation):
Trade and otherreceivables (1.5) - (1.5) (3.5) 0.6 (2.9)
Trade and other payables 1.8 0.4 2.2 (1.5) (0.8) (2.3)
Provisions 1.0 - 1.0 01 (om -
Cash generated from operations 28 255.4 3.1 258.5 226.1 2.3 228.4
Tax paid (42.2) - (42.2) (39.4) - (39.4)
Net cash generated from operating activities 213.2 3.1 216.3 186.7 2.3 189.0
Cash flows frominvesting activities
Purchases of intangible assets - financial systems (0.3) - (0.3) (0.3) - (0.3)
Purchases of intangible assets - other (0.3) - (0.3) (0.3) - (0.3)
Purchases of property, plantand equipment (1.7) - (1.7) (2.3) - (2.3)
Payment for acquisition of sharesinjoint ventures 16 (19.7) - (19.7) - - -
Payment for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 30 - - - (11.9) - (1.9)
Net cash usedininvesting activities (22.0) - (22.0) (14.8) - (14.8)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders 27 (57.6) - (57.6) (52.2) - (52.2)
Repayment of Syndicated Term Loan 21 (343.0) - (343.0) (20.0) - (20.0)
Drawdown of Syndicated revolving credit facility 21 4471 - 4471 - - -
Repayment of Syndicated revolving credit facility 21 (134.) - (134.) - - -
Payment of refinancing fees 21 (3.3) - (3.3) - - -
Payment of intereston borrowings 32 (6.6) - (6.6) (6.7) - (6.7)
Payment of lease liabilities - (3.1) (3.1) - (2.3) (2.3)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation (87.7) - (87.7) (96.2) - (96.2)
Purchase of own shares for treasury (5.8) - (5.8) - - -
Payment of fees onrepurchase of ownshares (0.5) - (0.5) (0.5) - (0.5)
Proceeds from exercise of share-based payments 1.9 = 1.9 - - -
Net cash used in financing activities (189.6) 3.1 (192.7) (175.6) (2.3) (1779)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 1.6 - 1.6 (3.7) - (3.7)
Cashand cash equivalents at beginning of year 19 4.3 - 4.3 8.0 - 8.0
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19 5.9 - 5.9 43 - 4.3
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The following accounting policies applied by the Group in these consolidated financial statements are the same as those applied by the Group
inits consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Intangible assets

a) Goodwill

Goodwillrepresents the excess cost of anacquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the netidentifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwillis tested annually forimpairmentandis carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Impairmentlosses are charged to theincome statementand are notreversed. The gain orloss on the disposal of an entity includes the carrying
amount of goodwillrelating to the entity sold. Goodwillis allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The
allocationis made to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

b) Trademarks, trade names, technology, non-compete agreements and customer relationships

Separately acquired trademarks, trade names, technology and customer relationships are recognised at historical cost. They have a finite
usefullife and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisationis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost
over theirestimated useful lives of between one and 15 years. Trademarks, trade names, technology, non-compete agreements and customer
relationshipsacquiredinabusiness combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and subsequently amortised.

c) Software
Acquired computer software is capitalised at cost, including any costs to bringitinto use,andis carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisationis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over the estimated useful life of three to five years.

d) Software and website development costs and financial systems
Developmentcosts thatare directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products, websites and
systems controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteriaare met:

- itistechnically feasible to complete the software product or website so that it will be available for use;

- managementintends to complete the software product or website and use or sellit;

- thereisanability touse or sell the software product or website;

-itcanbe demonstrated how the software product or website will generate probable future economic benefits;

- adequate technical, financialand other resources to complete the developmentand to use or sell the software product or website are
available; and

- the expenditure attributable to the software product or website during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product, website or systeminclude employee and contractor costs.
Otherdevelopment expenditures that do not meet these criteria, as well as ongoing maintenance and costs associated with routine upgrades
and enhancements, are recognised as an expense asincurred. Development costs for software, websites and systems are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisationand are amortised over their useful lives (not exceeding five years) at the pointin which they come into use.

Property, plant and equipment
Allproperty, plantand equipmentis stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost comprises
the purchase price of the asset and expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of the item.

Freeholdlandis not depreciated. Depreciation on other assetsis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost less their
estimatedresidual values over the estimated useful lives as follows:

Land, buildings and leasehold improvements:

- Leasehold land and buildings life of lease
- Leaseholdimprovements life of lease
- Plantand equipment 3-10years

The assets’ residual values and usefullives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The carrying value of assets
isreviewed forimpairmentif events or changesin circumstances suggest that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Assets will be
written down to theirrecoverable amountif lower than the carrying value,and any impairmentis charged to theincome statement.

Gains and losses ondisposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carryingamountand are recognisedin theincome
statement withinadministrative expenses.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have anindefinite usefullife, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually forimpairment. Assets
thatare subjecttoamortisation and depreciation are reviewed forimpairment whenever events or changesin circumstances indicate that the
carryingamount may not be recoverable. Animpairmentlossis recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceedsits
recoverable amount. The recoverable amountis the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to selland value inuse. For the purposes of
assessingimpairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financialassets other than goodwill that have suffered animpairmentare reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.

Inassessing value inuse, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Foranasset thatdoes not generate largely
independent cash flows, the recoverable amountis determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Impairmentlossesrecognisedinrespect of cash-generating units are allocated first toreduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then to reduce the carrying amount of other assets in the unit (or group of units) ona pro-rata
basis.

Interestsin joint ventures

UnderIFRS 11, investmentsinjointarrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractualrights
and obligations of eachinvestor. Auto Trader Group plc has assessed the nature of itsjointarrangements and determined them to be joint
ventures. Jointventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method of accounting, interestsinjointventuresare
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter torecognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses, movementsin
othercomprehensiveincome and dividends received.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cashand cash equivalentsinclude cashin hand, short-term deposits held on call with banks and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown
withinborrowingsin currentliabilities on the balance sheet.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costsincurred,and are subsequently carried atamortised cost, with any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value being recognised in theincome statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Finance andissue costs associated with the borrowings are charged to the income statement using the effective interest rate method from
the date of issue over the estimated life of the borrowings to which the costsrelate.

Borrowings are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. Where an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
anexchange or modificationis treated as ade-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, such that the difference
inrespective carrying amounts together with any costs or feesincurred are recognised in the income statement.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the balance sheet date.

Provisions

Aprovisionisrecognised whenapresentlegal or constructive obligation exists at the balance sheet date asaresult of apastevent, itis
probable thatan outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and areliable estimate of that obligation can be made. Where
there areanumber of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlementis determined by considering the class of
obligationsasawhole. If the effectis material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-taxrate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the obligation.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed unless an outflow of resourcesis remote. Contingent assets are not recognised but
are disclosed where aninflow of economic benefitsis probable.

Segmentreporting

Operating segments are reportedinamanner consistent with the internalreporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, whois responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, hasbeen
identified as the Operational Leadership Team that makes strategic decisions (note 4).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

continued

Employee benefits
The Group operates several pension schemes and all except one are defined contribution schemes. Within the UK all pension schemes setup
priorto 2001 have been closed tonew members and only one defined contribution schemeis now open to new employees.

a) Defined contribution scheme
The assets of the defined contribution scheme are held separately from those of the Group inindependently administered funds. The costsin
respect of thisscheme are charged to theincome statementasincurred.

b) Defined benefit scheme

The Group operates one defined benefit pension scheme thatis closed tonew members. The asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet
inrespect of the defined benefit schemeis the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of
the scheme’s assets. The defined benefit obligationis calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The presentvalue of the defined benefit obligationis determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of
high-quality corporate bonds thatare denominated in the currencyin which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating those of the related pension liability. Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changesin
actuarialassumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Any scheme surplus
(tothe extentitcanberecovered) or deficitisrecognisedin fullon the balance sheet.

c) Share-based payments

Equity-settled awards are valued at the grant date, and the fair value is charged as an expense in the income statement spread over the vesting
period. Fair value of the awards are measured using Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo pricing models. The credit side of the entryisrecordedin
equity. Cash-settled awards are revalued at each reporting date with the fair value of the award charged to the profitand loss account over the
vesting period and the credit side of the entry recognised as aliability.

Research and development
Researchand development expenditureis charged against profitsin the yearinwhichitisincurred, unlessit meets the criteria for
capitalisationsetoutinlAS 38, Intangible Assets.

Operating profit
Operating profitis the profit of the Group (including the Group's share of profit fromjoint ventures) before finance income, finance costs,
profitondisposal of subsidiaries which do not meet the definition of adiscontinued operation, and taxation.

Finance income and costs
Financeincomeis earned on bankdepositsand finance costsareincurred onbank borrowings. Both are recognised in the income statement
inthe periodinwhichtheyareincurred.

Taxation

The taxexpense for the period comprises currentand deferred taxation. Taxisrecognised in the income statement, except to the extent that
itrelatestoitemsrecognisedin ‘other comprehensiveincome’ or directly in equity. In this case the taxis also recognisedin other
comprehensiveincome or directly in equity, respectively. Management periodically evaluates positions takenin tax returns with respect to
situationsinwhichapplicable taxregulationis subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expectedtobe paidtothe taxauthorities.

Current taxationis provided atamounts expected to be paid (or recovered) calculated using the rates of taxand laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Deferred taxationis providedin full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amountsin the consolidated financial statements. Deferred taxationis determined using tax rates and laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred taxassetisrealised or the

deferredtaxliabilityis settled.

Deferred taxationassetsarerecognised only to the extent thatitis probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred taxationis provided ontemporary differences arising oninvestmentsin subsidiaries and interestsinjoint ventures, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differenceis controlled by the Group anditis probable that the temporary difference willnotreverse
inthe foreseeable future.

Deferred taxation assetsand liabilities are offset when thereis alegally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilitiesand when the deferred taxation assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity
or different taxable entities where thereisanintention to settle the balance onanet basis.
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Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shownin equity as a deduction
fromthe proceeds.

Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from equity attributable to the Group’s
shareholders. Where such shares are subsequently cancelled, the nominal value of the shares repurchasedis deducted from share capitaland
transferredto a capitalredemptionreserve. Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital to hold in Treasury, the consideration
paid forthe sharesis shown as own shares held within equity.

Shares held by the Employee Share Option Trust

The Employee Share Option Trust ('ESOT’) provides for the issue of shares to Group employees principally under share option schemes.

The Group has control of the ESOT and therefore consolidates the ESOT in the Group financial statements. Accordingly, shares in the Company
held by the ESOT areincludedin the balance sheetat cost asadeduction from equity.

Share premium
The amount subscribed for the ordinary sharesin excess of the nominalvalue of these new sharesisrecordedin share premium. Costs that
directlyrelate totheissue of ordinary shares are deducted from share premium net of corporation tax.

Capitalreorganisationreserve

The capital reorganisationreserve arose on consolidation as aresult of the share-for-share exchange on 24 March 2015. It represents the
difference betweenthe nominalvalue of sharesissued by Auto Trader Group plcin this transaction and the share capitaland reserves of
Auto Trader Holding Limited.

Capitalredemptionreserve
The capitalredemptionreserve arises from the purchase and subsequent cancellation of the Group’s own equity share capital.

Otherreserves
Otherreserves comprise the currency translation reserve on the consolidation of entities whose functional currency is other than sterling.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share ('EPS’) forits ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. For diluted EPS, the
weighted average number of ordinary sharesis adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distributionto the Company’s shareholdersisrecognised as aliability in the Group's financial statements in the period in which
the dividendis approved by the Company’s shareholdersin the case of final dividends, or the date at which they are paidin the case of
interimdividends.

Foreign currency translation

a) Functional and presentation currency

Itemsincludedin the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environmentinwhich the entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling (£), whichis the Group’s
presentation currency,and rounded to the nearest hundred thousand (£0.1m) except when otherwise indicated.

b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at the period end exchange
rates of monetary assetsand liabilities denominatedin foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement within administrative
expenses.

c) Group companies
Theresults and financial position of all Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency other than sterling are translated into sterling as follows:

- assetsand liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet; and
-income and expenses foreachincome statementare translated at average exchange rates.
Onthedisposal of aforeign operation, the cumulative exchange differences that were recordedin equity are recognised intheincome

statementas part of the gain orloss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assetsand liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

Overview

Inthe course of its business the Group is exposed to marketrisk, credit risk and liquidity risk fromits use of financialinstruments. This note
presentsinformationabout the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and
managing riskand the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial
statements.

The Group's overallrisk management strategy is to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance and net assets of the
Group. These policies are setand reviewed by senior finance managementand all significant financing transactions are authorised by the
Board of Directors.

Market risk

i. Foreignexchange risk

The Group has no significant foreign exchange riskas 99% of the Group’s revenue and 97% of costs are sterling-denominated. As the amounts
are notsignificant, no sensitivity analysis has been presented.

The Group operatesinlireland. Foreign currency-denominated net assets of overseas operations are not hedged as they represent arelatively
small proportion of the Group’s netassets. The Group operates a dividend policy, ensuring any surplus cashis remitted to the UKand
translatedinto sterling, thereby minimising the impact of exchange rate volatility.

ii. Interestraterisk

The Group'sinterestrateriskarises fromlong-termborrowings under the Syndicated revolving credit facility with floating rates of interest
linked to LIBOR. The Group monitorsinterest rates onan ongoing basis but does not currently hedge interestrate risk. The variationin the
interestrate of floating rate financial liabilities (with all other variables held constant) required toincrease or decrease post-tax profit for the
year by £1.0 millionis 39 basis points (2018: 36 basis points).

Creditrisk
Creditriskis therisk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or banking institution fails to meetits contractual obligations.

i. Tradereceivables

Creditriskrelating to trade receivablesis managed centrally and the creditrisk for new customersis analysed before standard payment terms
and conditions are offered. Policies and procedures exist to ensure that existing customers have an appropriate credit historyand a
significantnumber of balances are prepaid or collected via direct debit. More than 82.0% (2018: 80.0%) of the Group’s Retailer customers pay
viamonthly direct debit, minimising the risk of non-payment.

Sales to private customers are primarily settled using major debit or credit cards which reduces the riskin this area.

The Group establishes an expected creditloss thatrepresentsits estimate of lossesinrespect of trade and otherreceivables. Further details
of these are giveninnote 31. Overall, the Group considers thatitis not exposed to a significantamount of either customer credit or bad debt
risk, due to the diversified and fragmented nature of the customer base.

ii. Cashand cash equivalents

As at 31 March 2019, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of £5.9m (2018: £4.3m). The cash and cash equivalents are held with bankand
financialinstitution counterparties, which are rated between P-1and P-2 based on Moody’s ratings. The Group's treasury policy is to monitor
cash,andwhenapplicable deposit balances, onadaily basis and to manage counterparty riskand to ensure efficient management of the
Group's Syndicated revolving credit facility.

Liquidity risk

Liquidityriskis therisk that the Group willencounter difficultiesin meeting the obligations associated withits financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it willalways have sufficient liquidity
tomeetitsliabilities when due, under both normaland stressed conditions, withoutincurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Group'sreputation.

Cash flow forecastingis performed centrally by the Group treasury manager. Rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements are
monitored to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs. The Group’s revenue modelis largely subscription-based, whichresults
inaregularlevel of cash conversion allowingit to service working capitalrequirements.

During the year the Group entered into a five-year, £400.0m Syndicated revolving credit facility with a termination date of June 2023. The
facility allows the Group access to cash at one working day’s notice. At 31 March 2019, £313.0m was drawn under the Syndicated revolving
credit facility.

Onoccasion, surplus cash held by operating entities over and above the balance required for working capital managementisinvested
centrallyininterest-bearing currentaccounts and money market deposits with appropriate maturities or sufficient liquidity as required by the
above-mentioned forecasts.
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Capital management
The Group considers capital to be net debt plus total equity. Net debtis calculated as total bank debt and lease financing, less unamortised
debt feesand cashand cashequivalentsas showninnote 32. Total equity is as shownin the Consolidated balance sheet.

The calculation of total capitalis shownin the table below:

(Restated)

2019 2018

£m £m

Total netdebt 321.0 355.2
Total equity 59.0 5.6
Total capital 380.0 360.8

Following the application of IFRS16, total capital for the year ended 31 March 2018 has beenrestated (note 2).

The objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an efficient capital structure to optimise the cost of capital. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or take other steps toincrease share capitalandreduce orincrease debt facilities.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had borrowings of £313.0m (2018: £343.0m) through its Syndicated revolving credit facility (2018: Syndicated
Term Loan). Interestis payable on this facility atarate of LIBOR plus a margin of between1.2%and 2.1% depending on the consolidated leverage
ratio of Auto Trader Group plc and its subsidiaries, whichis calculated and reviewed on a biannual basis. The Group remainsin compliance with
its banking covenants.

IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’ requires the Group to determineits operating segments based oninformation whichis providedinternally. Based
ontheinternalreportinginformation and management structures withinthe Group, it has been determined that thereis only one operating
segment, being the Group, as the informationreportedincludes operating results ata consolidated Group level only. This reflects the nature
of the business, where the major costis tosupporttheIT platforms uponwhichall of the Group’s customers are serviced. These costs are
borne centrally and are not attributable to any specific customer type or revenue stream. Thereis also considered to be only one reporting
segment, whichis the Group, the results of which are shownin the Consolidatedincome statement.

Managementhas determined that thereis one operating and reporting segmentbased on the reportsreviewed by the Operational Leadership
Team (‘OLT') whichis the chief operating decision-maker (‘{CODM'’). The OLT is made up of the Executive Directors and Key Management and is
responsible for the strategic decision-making of the Group.

The OLT primarily uses the statutory measures of Revenue and Operating profit to assess the performance of the one operating segment. To
assistinthe analysis of the Group’srevenue-generating trends, the OLT reviews revenue at adisaggregated levelas detailed withinnote 5. The
revenue from external partiesreported to the OLT is measured inamanner consistent with thatin theincome statement.

Areconciliation of the one segment’s Operating profit to Profit before taxis shown below.

(Restated)

2019 2018

£m £m

Totalsegment Revenue 355.1 330.1
Totalsegment Operating profit 243.7 221.3
Finance costs - net (10.2) (10.6)
Profit on the sale of subsidiary 8.7 -
Profit before tax 242.2 210.7

Following the application of IFRS16, profit before tax for the year ended 31 March 2018 has beenrestated (note 2).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

continued

Geographicinformation
The Groupis domiciledin the UKand the following tables detail externalrevenue by location of customers, trade receivables and non-current
assets (excluding deferred tax) by geographicarea:

2019 2018

Revenue £m £m
UK 349.9 324.9
Ireland 5.2 52
Totalrevenue 355.1 330.1
2019 2018

Tradereceivables £m £m
UK 24.5 24.9
Ireland 0.4 0.5
Total net trade receivables 24.9 254
(Restated)

Non-current assets 2019 2018
(excluding deferred tax) £m £m
UK 376.6 342.6
Ireland 6.6 6.9
Total non-current assets (excluding deferred tax) 383.2 349.5

Due tothelarge number of customers the Group serves, there are noindividual customers whose revenue is greater than10% of the Group's
totalrevenueinall periods presentedin these financial statements.

The Group’s operations and main revenue streams are those describedin these annual financial statements. The Group's revenue is derived
from contracts with customers. The nature and effect of initially applying IFRS 15 on the Group’s financial statementsis disclosed in note 2.

Disaggregation of revenue
Inthe following table the Group’s revenue is disaggregated by customer type. This level of disaggregationis consistent with that used by the
OLT toassistinthe analysis of the Group’s revenue-generating trends.

2019 2018

Revenue £m £m
Retailer 293.0 268.7
Home Traders 10.2 4
Other 1.4 11
Trade 304.6 281.2
Consumer Services 28.0 29.8
Manufacturerand Agency 22.5 191
Totalrevenue 355.1 330.1

Contract balances
The following table providesinformation aboutreceivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers.

2019 2018

£m £m

Receivables, whichareincludedin trade and otherreceivables 27.0 28.8
Accruedincome 28.0 26.7
Deferredincome (13.2) (1.8)

Accruedincomerelates to the Group'srights to consideration for services provided but notinvoiced at the reporting date. Accruedincomeiis
transferredtoreceivables wheninvoiced.

Deferredincomerelatestoadvanced considerationreceived for whichrevenue isrecognised as or when services are provided. Included within
deferredincomeis £11.2m (2018: £nil) relating to consideration received from Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited (which forms part of the Group's joint
venture) for the provision of dataservices (note16). Revenue relating to this service isrecognised on a straight-line basis over a period of 20 years.
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The Group hasidentified anumber of items which are material due to the significance of their nature and/oramount. These are listed
separately here to provide a better understanding of the financial performance of the Group:
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(Restated)

2019 2018

Note £m £m

Staff costs 7 (56.0) (54.5)
Contractor costs (0.4) (0.4)
Depreciation of property, plantand equipment 14 (4.9) (4.9)
Amortisation of intangible assets 13 (4.0) (4.1)
Profiton sale of property, plantand equipment 0.1 -

Following the application of IFRS 16, depreciation of property, plantand equipment has beenrestated for the year ended 31 March 2018
(note 2).

Services provided by the Company’s auditors
During the year, the Group (including overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the operating company’s auditors:

2019 2018
£m £m
Fees payable for the audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements 0.1 0.
Fees payable forotherservices:
- theauditof the subsidiary undertakings pursuant to legislation 0.2 0.1
Total 0.3 0.2
The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors but excluding third-party contractors) employed by the Group was
asfollows:
2019 2018
Number Number
Customer operations 370 380
Productandtechnology 317 312
Corporate 15 130
Total 802 822
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:
2019 2018
£m £m
Wages and salaries 43.2 441
Social security costs 4.7 4.8
Defined contribution pension costs (note 24) 2.2 1.9
50.1 50.8
Share-based paymentsand associated NI (note 29) 5.9 3.7
Total 56.0 54.5
Wages and salariesinclude £17.3m (2018: £18.1m) relating to the product and technology teams; these teams spend a significant proportion of

theirtime onresearchand developmentactivities, including innovation of our product proposition and enhancements to the Group's platforms.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

Theremuneration of Directorsis disclosed in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 64 to 74:

Key Management compensation
During the year to 31 March 2019, Key Management comprised the members of the OLT and the Non-Executive Directors (2018: OLT and the

Non-Executive Directors). The remuneration of allKey Management (including Directors) was as follows:

2019 2018

£m £m

Short-term employee benefits 5.3 4.9
Share-based payments 3.5 2.6
Termination benefits = 0.1
Pension contributions 0.2 0.2
Total 9.0 7.8
(Restated)

2019 2018

£m £m

Onbankloansand overdrafts 6.5 6.8
Amortisation of debtissue costs 2.8 3.0
Interestunwind on lease liabilities 0.9 0.8
Total 10.2 10.6

Following the application of IFRS16, finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2018 have beenrestated (note 2).

Amortisation of debtissue costsincludes £0.6mrelating to costsincurred for the Syndicated revolving credit facilityand £2.2mrelating to
costsincurred for the former Senior Facilities Agreement. Debtissue costsincurred on the former Senior Facilities Agreement were
acceleratedintheyearwithanadditional £2.0mrecognisedin the Consolidated income statement (2018: additional charge of £1.1m).

On31December 2018, the Group disposed of a subsidiary undertaking, Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited, as part of the consideration for shares
in Dealer Auction (Holdings) Limited, a newly formed joint venture (note 16).

Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited was a subsidiaryincorporated on 3 August 2018 by another Group subsidiary, Auto Trader Limited. The trade
and assets of Auto Trader Limited's ‘Smart Buying’ product line, itsretailer-to-retailer marketplace, were transferred to Auto Trader Auto Stock

Limited on1November 2018.

Revenue generated from the Smart Buying productin the nine-month period to 31 December 2018 was £1.3m (year ended 31 March 2018: £2.0m).
The disposal of the Smart Buying productline does notrepresentadiscontinued operationunder IFRS 5 as the product was not eithera
separate major line of business or geographical area of operations.

Aprofitondisposalhasbeenrecognisedinthe Group’s Consolidated income statement:

£m
Proceeds from disposals 28.4
Intangible assets - Goodwill (8.4)
Intangible assets - Licence agreement (11.3)
8.7

Profit on sale of subsidiary
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(Restated)
2019 2018
£m £m
Current taxation
UK corporation taxation 44.9 40.7
Foreign taxation 0.2 0.2
Adjustmentsinrespectof prioryears (0.4) (0.9)
Total current taxation 45.0 40.0
Deferred taxation
Originationand reversal of temporary differences (0.6) (0.2)
Adjustmentsinrespectof prioryears 0.1 (0.2)
Total deferred taxation (0.5) (0.4)
Total taxation charge 445 39.6
The taxation charge for the yearislower than (2018: the same as) the effective rate of corporation taxin the UK of 19% (2018:19%).
The differences are explained below:
(Restated)
2019 2018
£m £m
Profitbefore taxation 242.2 210.7
Tax on profiton ordinary activities at the standard UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2018:19%) 46.0 40.0
Expenses notdeductible for taxation purposes 0.3 0.8
Income not taxable 1.7) -
Adjustmentsinrespect of foreigntaxrates (0.) (0.)
Adjustmentsinrespectof prioryears = (11
Total taxation charge 44.5 39.6

Taxation onitems takendirectly to equity was a credit of £0.6m (2018: £0.1m) relating to tax on share-based payments.

The tax charge for the yearis based on the standardrate of UK corporation tax for the period of 19% (2018:19%). Deferred income taxes have
beenmeasuredatthe taxrate expectedtobe applicable at the date the deferredincome tax assets and liabilities are realised. Management
has performedanassessment, forall material deferredincome tax assets and liabilities, to determine the period over which the deferred
income taxassetsand liabilities are forecast to be realised, which hasresultedinan average deferred income taxrate of 17%being used to
measure all deferred tax balances as at 31 March 2019 (2018:17%).

Basic earnings pershareis calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary sharesinissue during the year, excluding those held by
the Employee Share Option Trust ('ESOT'), based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders.

Weighted
average number Total
of ordinary earnings Pence
shares £m pershare
Year ended 31 March 2019
Basic EPS 941,506,424 197.7 21.00
Diluted EPS 944,254,998 197.7 20.94
Year ended 31 March 2018 (restated)
Basic EPS 964,516,212 1711 17.74
Diluted EPS 967912,689 1711 17.68
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

continued

Following the application of IFRS16, total earnings for the year ended 31 March 2018 has beenrestated (note 2).

Thenumber of sharesinissue at the start of the yearis reconciled to the basic and diluted weighted average number of shares below:

Weighted

average

number of

Year ended 31 March 2019 shares
Issued ordinary shares at 31 March 2018 952,161,444
Weighted effect of ordinary shares purchased for cancellation (6,001,643)
Weighted effect of ordinary sharesheldin treasury (4,009,411)
Weighted effect of shares held by the ESOT (643,966)
Weighted average number of shares for basic EPS 941,506,424
Dilutive impact of share options outstanding 2,748,574
Weighted average number of shares for diluted EPS 944,254,998

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue is adjusted to assume conversion of all potentially
dilutive ordinary shares. The Group has potentially dilutive ordinary shares arising from share options granted to employees. Options are
dilutive under the Sharesave scheme where the exercise price together with the future IFRS 2 charge is less than the average market price of
the ordinary shares during the year. Options under the Performance Share Plan, Single Incentive Plan Award, the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan
and the Share Incentive Plan are contingently issuable shares and are therefore only included within the calculation of diluted EPS if the
performance conditions are satisfied.

The average market value of the Group's shares for the purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share-basedincentives was based on
quoted market prices for the period during which the share-based incentives were outstanding.

Software
‘andlwebsit? _ .
Goodwill o rcosts .systems Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 31 March 2017 4341 54.6 12.3 13.3 514.3
Acquired through a business combination 8.5 0.4 - 3.8 12.7
Additions - 0.3 0.3 - 0.6
Exchange differences 0.2 - - - 0.2
At 31 March 2018 442.8 55.3 12.6 171 527.8
Additions - 0.3 0.3 - 0.6
Disposals (12.4) (42.4) - (1.3) (56.1)
Exchange differences (01) - - - (0.1)
At 31 March 2019 430.3 13.2 12.9 15.8 472.2
Accumulated amortisation and impairments
At 31 March 2017 120.8 53.8 6.5 12.8 193.9
Amortisationcharge - 0.6 24 11 41
At 31 March 2018 120.8 54.4 8.9 13.9 198.0
Amortisation charge - 0.6 24 1.0 4.0
Disposals (3.9) (42.2) - (1.3) (47.4)
Exchange differences 0.1 - - - 0.1
At 31 March 2019 117.0 12.8 13 13.6 154.7
Netbook value at 31 March 2019 313.3 0.4 1.6 2.2 317.5
Netbook value at 31 March 2018 322.0 0.9 3.7 3.2 329.8
Netbook value at 31 March 2017 313.3 0.8 5.8 0.5 3204
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Otherintangiblesinclude customerrelationships, technology, trade names, trademarks and non-compete agreements. Intangible assets
which have afinite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation of these intangible assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets over their estimated usefullives (three to fifteen years). The longest estimated useful
liferemaining at 31 March 2019 is five years.

For the year to 31 March 2019, the amortisation charge of £4.0m (2018: £4.1m) has been charged to administrative expensesin theincome
statement. At 31 March 2019, £0.1m (2018: £0.1m) of software and website development costs represented assets under construction.
Amortisation of these assets willcommence when they are broughtinto use.

Inaccordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, goodwill is not amortised, butinstead is tested annually forimpairment, or
more frequently if there are indicators of impairment. Goodwillis carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment test for goodwill

Goodwillisallocated to the appropriate cash-generating unit (‘CGU’) based on the smallestidentifiable group of assets that generates cash
inflowsindependentlyinrelation to the specific goodwill. The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined from value-in-use calculations
thatuse cash flow projections from the latest three-year plan. The carrying value of CGUs is the sum of goodwill, property, plantand
equipmentandintangiblesandis as follows:

(Restated)

2019 2018

£m £m

Digital 327.6 342.6
Webzone 6.6 6.9
Total 334.2 349.5

Income and costs within the budget are derived on a detailed ‘bottomup’ basis - allincome streams and cost lines are considered and
appropriate growth, or decline, rates are assumed. Income and cost growth forecasts are risk adjusted toreflect specific risks facing each
CGU andtakeintoaccount the marketsin which they operate. Key assumptionsinclude revenue growth rates, associated levels of marketing
supportanddirectly associated overheads. Allassumptions are based on past performance and management’'s expectation of market
development. Cash flows beyond the budgeted period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate stated into perpetuity whichis
consistent withindustryreports. Other thanasincludedin the financial budgets, itisassumed that there are no materialadverse changesin
legislation that would affect the forecast cash flows.

The pre-taxdiscountrate used within the recoverable amount calculations was 8.5% (2018: 8.0%) and is based upon the weighted average cost
of capitalreflecting specific principal risks and uncertainties. The discount rate takes into account the risk-free rate of return, the market risk
premium and beta factor reflecting the average beta for the Group and comparator companies which are used in deriving the cost of equity.

The same discountrate has beenapplied to both CGUs as the principalrisks and uncertainties associated with the Group, as highlighted on
pages 30to 33, would alsoimpact each CGU inasimilar manner. The Board acknowledges that there are additional factors that couldimpact
therisk profile of each CGU, which have been considered by way of sensitivity analysis performed as part of the annualimpairment tests.

Keydriversto future growthrates are dependent on the Group's ability to maintain and grow income streams whilst effectively managing
operating costs. The level of headroom may change if different growthrate assumptions or adifferent pre-tax discountrate were usedin the
cash flow projections. Where the value-in-use calculations suggest animpairment, the Board would consider alternative use values prior to
realising any impairment, being the fair value less costs to dispose.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:

2019 2018
Annual growth rate (after plan period) 3.0% 3.0%
Risk freerate of return 3.0% 3.0%
Market risk premium 5.0% 49%
Betafactor 0.83 0.79
Costof debt 3.3% 3.3%

Having completed the 2019 impairmentreview, no impairment has beenrecognised inrelation to the CGUs (2018: noimpairment). Sensitivity
analysis has been performedinassessing the recoverable amounts of goodwill. There are no changes to the key assumptions of growthrate or
discountrate thatare considered by the Directors to be reasonably possible, which give rise to animpairment of goodwill relating to the CGUs.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

Land, buildings

and leasehold Office Motor

improvements equipment vehicles Total

£m £m £m £m

Cost
At 31 March 2017 (restated) 18.3 20.5 11 39.9
Additions - 2.3 - 2.3
Disposals - (6.0) - (6.0)
At 31 March 2018 (restated) 18.3 16.8 11 36.2
Additions 0.8 0.9 0.2 1.9
Disposals (1.3) (3.7) (om (5.1)
At 31 March 2019 17.8 14.0 1.2 33.0
Accumulated depreciation
At 31 March 2017 (restated) 14 16.2 - 17.6
Charge fortheyear 1.7 2.7 0.5 4.9
Disposals - (6.0) - (6.0)
At 31 March 2018 (restated) 31 12.9 0.5 16.5
Charge fortheyear 2.5 1.9 0.5 4.9
Disposals (1.3) (3.7) ((oN)] (5.1)
At 31 March 2019 4.3 1a 0.9 16.3
Netbook value at 31 March 2019 13.5 2.9 0.3 16.7
Netbook value at 31 March 2018 (restated) 15.2 3.9 0.6 19.7
Netbook value at 31 March 2017 (restated) 16.9 4.3 1.1 22.3

Included within property, plantand equipmentare £11.9m (2018: £13.7m) of assets recognised as leases under IFRS16. Further details of these
leasesare disclosedinnote15. The depreciation expense of £4.9m for the year to 31 March 2019 (2018 restated: £4.9m) has beenrecordedin

administrative expenses.

During the year, £5.1m (2018: £6.0m) worth of property, plantand equipment with £nilnet book values were disposed of.
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The Group leases assets including land and buildings and motor vehicles that are held within property, plantand equipment. Information about
leases forwhich the Groupisalesseeis presented below.
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(Restated)
2019 2018
£m £m
Netbookvalue property, plantand equipment owned 4.8 6.0
Netbookvalueright of use assets 1.9 13.7
16.7 19.7
Land, buildings
and leasehold Office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
Netbook value of right of use assets £m £m £m £m
Balance at1April 2017 (restated) 14.4 01 11 15.6
Depreciation charge (1.4) - (0.5) 1.9)
Balance at 31 March 2018 (restated) 13.0 01 0.6 13.7
Additions - - 0.2 0.2
Depreciation charge (1.5) - (0.5) (2.0)
At 31 March 2019 1.5 0.1 0.3 1.9
(Restated)
2019 2018
Lease liabilities in the balance sheet at 31 March £m £m
Current 1.8 2.2
Non-current 14.3 16.0
Total 1641 18.2
Amaturity analysis of contractualundiscounted cash flows relating to lease liabilities is presented within note 31.
(Restated)
2019 2018
Amounts charged in the income statement £m £m
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 2.0 1.9
Interest on lease liabilities 0.9 0.8
Total amounts charged in the income statement 2.9 2.7
(Restated)
2019 2018
Cash outflow £m £m
Total cash outflow for leases 34 2.3
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

Jointventures are contractualarrangements over which the Group exercises joint control with partners and where the parties have rights to
the netassets of the arrangement, irrespective of the Group’s shareholding in the entity.

On 31December 2018, the Group acquired 49% of the ordinary share capital of Dealer Auction (Holdings) Limited for consideration of £48.1m.
Consideration consisted of:

£m
Cash consideration 19.7
100% of the share capital of Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited (note 10) 28.4
Total consideration 48.1
Netinvestmentsinjointventuresat the reporting date include the Group's equity investmentin joint ventures and the Group's share of the
jointventures’ postacquisition netassets. The table below reconciles the movementin the Group’s netinvestmentinjointventuresinthe
year:
Equity Net
investmentin  Group’sshare investmentsin
jointventures of netassets  jointventures
£m £m £m
Carrying value
At1April 2017 and 31 March 2018 - - -
Investmentinjointventure 481 - 481
Share of result for the year taken to theincome statement - 0.9 0.9
As at 31 March 2019 48.1 0.9 49.0

Setoutbelowisthe summarised financialinformation for the consolidated Dealer Auction ventures, including Dealer Auction (Holdings)
Limited, Dealer Auction Limited, Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited and Dealer Auction Services Limited, which are accounted for using the equity
method:

2019
£m
Non-currentassets 98.9
Current assets
Cash and cashequivalents 0.2
Othercurrentassets 6.9
Total assets 106.0
Liabilities
Currentliabilities 5.5
Total liabilities 5.5
Net assets 100.5
2019
£m
Revenues 3.5
Profit forthe year 1.8
Total comprehensive income 1.8

The aboveinformationreflects the amounts presentedinthe Financial Statements of the joint venture and not the Group's share of those
amounts. They have beenamended for differencesinaccounting policies between the Group and the joint venture.

Alistof theinvestmentsinjointventures,including the name, country of incorporation and proportion of ownership interest, is givenin note 35.
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Sharesin other undertakings

£m

Investment in IAUTOS Company Limited
At 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018

At April 2018, the Group designated the investmentin IAUTOS Company Limited as an equity security at FVOCl as the Group intends to hold the

shares forlong-term strategic purposes. IAUTOS Company Limited is anintermediate holding company through which trading companies
incorporatedinthe People’'s Republic of China are held. The fair value of the investment has beenvalued at £nil since 2014 as the Chinese
trading companies are loss-making with forecast future cash outflows.

(Restated)

2019 2018

£m £m

Tradereceivables 27.0 28.8
Less: provision forimpairment of trade receivables (24) (3.4)
Nettradereceivables 24.9 254
Accruedincome 28.0 26.7
Prepayments 29 27
Otherreceivables 0.3 0.1
Total 56.1 54.9

Following the application of IFRS16, trade and otherreceivables have beenrestated (note 2).

Tradereceivables are amounts due from customers for services performedin the ordinary course of business. They are generally due for

settlement within 30 days and therefore are all classified as current. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration

thatisunconditionaland has beeninvoiced at the reporting date. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently atamortised cost using the effective interest method.

Accruedincomerelates to the Group'srights to consideration for services provided but notinvoiced at the reporting date. Accrued incomeis

transferred toreceivables wheninvoiced. Otherreceivablesinclude £0.1m due from Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited, arelated party (note

Exposure creditriskand expected credit lossesrelating to trade and otherreceivables are disclosed in note 31.

Cashatbankandinhandisdenominatedinthe following currencies:

34).

2019 2018

£m £m

Sterling 5.8 41
Euro 0.1 0.2
Cash atbank and in hand 5.9 4.3

Cash balances withan original maturity of less than three months were held in currentaccounts during the year and attractedinterestata
weighted average rate of 0.3%(2018: 0.3%).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

(Restated)

2019 2018

£m £m

Trade payables 4.3 3.7
Accruals 10.5 9.8
Othertaxesandsocial security 13.0 1.8
Deferredincome 13.2 1.8
Other payables 0.3 0.9
Accruedinterest payable 0.5 0.5
Total 41.8 28.5

Following the application of IFRS16, trade and other payables for the year ended 31 March 2018 have been restated (note 2).

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are

consideredto be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature.

2019 2018

Non-current £m £m

Syndicated RCF gross of unamortised debtissue costs 313.0 -

Unamortised debtissue costs on Syndicated RCF (2.7) -

Former Syndicated Term Loan gross of unamortised debtissue costs - 343.0

Unamortised debtissue costs on former Syndicated Term Loan - (2.2)

Total 310.3 340.8
The Syndicated RCF (2018: Syndicated Term Loan) is repayable as follows:

2019 2018

£m £m

Onetotwoyears - 343.0

Two to five years 313.0 -

Total 313.0 343.0

The carryingamounts of borrowings approximate their fair values.

Syndicated revolving credit facility (‘Syndicated RCF’)

On 6 June 2018, the Company and a subsidiary undertaking, Auto Trader Holding Limited, signed a new Syndicated revolving credit facility (the
‘Syndicated RCF') toreplace the former Syndicated Term Loan and former revolving credit facility. The Syndicated RCF, whichis unsecured,
has total commitments of £400.0m and a termination date of June 2023. Thereis norequirement to settle all or part of the facility before the

termination date of June 2023.

The associated debt transaction costs were £3.3m.

Individual tranches are drawn down, in sterling, for periods of up to sixmonths at LIBOR rates plus amargin of between1.2%and 2.1% depending
ontheconsolidated leverage ratio of the Group. Acommitment fee of 35% of the margin applicable to the Syndicated RCF is payable quarterly

inarrears onunutilised amounts of the total facility.

The first utilisation was made on 8 June 2018 when £303.1m was drawn.

The Syndicated revolving credit facility has financial covenants linked to interest cover and the consolidated leverage ratio of the Group. All

financial covenants of the facility have been complied with through the year.
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Senior Facilities Agreement (‘former Syndicated Term Loan’ and ‘Former revolving credit facility’)

On 24 March 2015, the Company and a subsidiary undertaking, Auto Trader Holding Limited, enteredinto a £550.0m Senior Facilities
Agreement. Interest on the former Syndicated Term Loan was charged at LIBOR plus a margin of between1.5% and 3.25% depending on
the consolidated leverage ratio of the Group. Under the agreement, the lenders had also made available to the Group a £30.0mrevolving
credit facility.

Cashdrawingsunder the RCFincurredinterestat LIBOR plusa margin of between1.25%and 3.0% depending on the consolidated leverage of
the Group. Acommitment fee of 35% of the margin applicable to the formerrevolving credit facility was payable quarterlyinarrears on the
unutilised amounts of the former revolving credit facility.

On 6 June 2018, the Group refinanced the Senior Facilities Agreement whichincluded the former Syndicated Term Loan and Former revolving
credit facility. On 8 June 2018 the Group repaid the outstanding amount drawn of £343.0m, together with accrued interest and other costs
payable underthe terms of the Senior Facilities Agreement.

The former Senior Facilities Agreement had financial covenants linked to the consolidated leverage ratio of the Group. All financial covenants
of the facility have been complied with through the year ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018.

Exposure to interest rate changes
The exposure of the Group's borrowings (excluding debtissue costs) to LIBORrate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the balance
sheetdate are as follows:

2019 2018

£m £m

Onemonthorless 313.0 343.0
Total 313.0 343.0

Dilapidations Holiday pay

provision provision Total

£m £m £m

At 31 March 2018 (restated) - 0.3 0.3
Chargedto theincome statement 1.0 0.3 1.3
Utilisedintheyear - (0.3) (0.3)
At 31 March 2019 1.0 0.3 1.3
(Restated)

2019 2018

£m £m

Current 0.3 0.3
Non-current 1.0 -
Total 1.3 0.3

Following the application of IFRS16, the dilapidations provision has beenrestated (note 2).

The holiday pay provisionrelates to liabilities for holiday pay inrelation to the UK and Ireland operations for leave days accrued and not yet
takenatthe end of the financial year,and is expected to be fully utilised in the year to 31 March 2020.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

The movementin deferred taxation assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the of fsetting of balances within
the same taxjurisdiction,is as follows:

Accelerated Other

Share-based capital temporary
payments allowances differences Total
Deferred taxation assets £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2017 (restated) 0.9 3.8 0.2 4.9
Credited totheincome statement 0.2 01 - 0.3
Credited directly to equity 0. - - 0.1
At 31 March 2018 (restated) 1.2 3.9 0.2 5.3
Credited totheincome statement 0.7 (0.2) 01 0.6
Credited directly to equity 0.3 - - 0.3
At 31 March 2019 2.2 3.7 0.3 6.2

Accelerated Other

Share-based capital temporary
payments allowances differences Total
Deferred taxation liabilities £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2017 (restated) - - 0.2 0.2
Acquiredin business combination - - 0.7 0.7
Creditedtotheincome statement - - (0.2) (0.2)
At 31 March 2018 (restated) - - 0.7 0.7
Creditedtotheincome statement (0.2) (0.2)
At 31 March 2019 - - 0.5 0.5

Following the application of IFRS 16, deferred tax assetsinrelation to accelerated capital allowances have beenrestated (note 2).

The Group has estimated that £1.1m (2018: £0.8m) of the Group’s net deferredincome tax asset will be realised in the next12 months. Thisis
management’s current best estimate and may not reflect the actual outcome in the next12 months.

(i) Defined contribution scheme

Across the UKand Ireland the Group operates anumber of defined contribution schemes. In the year to 31 March 2019 the pension
contributions to the Group's defined contribution schemes amounted to £2.2m (2018: £1.9m). At 31 March 2019, there were £0.3m (31 March
2018: £0.3m) of pension contributions outstanding relating to the Group's defined contribution schemes.

(ii) Defined benefit scheme

The Company sponsors a funded defined benefit pension scheme for qualifying UK employees, the Wiltshire (Bristol) Limited Retirement
Benefits Scheme (‘the Scheme’). The Scheme isadministered by a separate board of Trustees, whichis legally separate from the Company.
The Trustees are composed of representatives of both the Company and members. The Trustees are required by law to actin the interest of all
relevant beneficiariesand are responsible for the investment policy for the assets and the day-to-day administration of the benefits.

The Scheme has been closed to future members since 30 April 2006 and there are no remaining active members within the Scheme. No other
post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.

Profile of the scheme

As at 31 March 2019, approximately 60% of the Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) is attributable to former employees who have yet toreach
retirement (2018: 65%) and 40% to current pensioners (2018: 35%). The Scheme durationis anindicator of the weighted-average time until benefit
payments are made. For the Scheme as awhole, the durationis approximately 21years.
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Risks associated with the scheme
The Scheme exposes the Company to somerisks, the most significant of which are:

Assetvolatility The liabilities are calculated using adiscount rate set with reference to corporate bondyields. If assets
underperform thisyield, this will create a deficit. The Scheme holds a significant proportion of growth assets
(equities, diversified growth fund and global absolute return fund) which, though expected to outperform
corporate bondsinthe longterm, create volatility andriskinthe short term. The allocation to growth assetsis
monitored to ensureitremains appropriate given the Scheme’s long-term objectives.

Inflation risk Aproportion of the Scheme’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation, and higherinflation leads to higher
liabilities (although,in most cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect against
extreme inflation).

The majority of the assets are either unaffected by or only loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that an
increaseininflation willalsoincrease the deficit.

Changeinbondyields Adecreaseincorporate bondyields willincrease the value placed on the Scheme’s liabilities foraccounting
purposes, although this will be partially of fset by anincrease in the value of the Scheme’s bond holdings.

Life expectancy The majority of the Scheme’s obligations are to provide benefits for the lifetime of the member, soincreases
inlife expectancy willresultinanincreasein the liabilities.

Funding requirements

UK legislation requires that pension schemes are funded prudently. The ongoing funding valuation of the Scheme was carried out by a
qualified actuary asat 30 April 2018 and showed a deficit of £0.2m. The Company paid deficit contributions of £70,000 for the year ending
31March 2019 (2018: £70,000), and has committed to contribute £140,000 perannum from 1 April 2019, whichis expected to make good this
shortfall by 31 March 2020. The next funding valuationis due no later than 30 April 2021, at which progress towards full-funding willbe
reviewed. The Company also pays expenses and PPF leviesincurred by the Scheme.

Assumptions used

The last triennial actuarial valuation of the Scheme was performed by anindependent professional actuary at 30 April 2018 using the projected
unit method of valuation. For the purposes of IAS 19 (revised) the actuarial valuation as at 30 April 2018 has been updated on an approximate
basis to 31 March 2019. There have been no changesin the valuation methodology adopted for this year’'s disclosures compared to the prior
year’'s disclosures.

The principal financialassumptions used to calculate the liabilities under IAS 19 (revised) are as follows:

2019 2018

% %

Discountrate for scheme liabilities 2.45 2.60

CPlinflation 2.35 2.25

RPIinflation 3.45 3.35
Pensionincreases

Pre1988 GMP = -

Post1988 GMP 2.10 210

Pre 2004 non GMP 5.00 5.00

Post 2004 3.35 3.25

The financialassumptionsreflect the nature and term of the Scheme’s liabilities.

The Group has assumed that mortality will be in line with nationally published mortality table S2NA with CMI 2018 projectionsrelated to
members' years of birth with long-term rate of improvement of 1.5% perannum. These tables translate into an average life expectancy fora
pensionerretiring atage 65 as follows:

2019 2018
Men Women Men Women
Years Years Years Years
Memberaged 65 (current life expectancy) 86.8 88.9 87.3 89.3
Member aged 45 (life expectancy at age 65) 88.5 90.7 89.0 911

Itisassumed that 50% of non-retired members of the Scheme will commute the maximum amount of cash atretirement (2018: 50% of
non-retired members of the Scheme will commute the maximum amount of cash at retirement).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

continued

Post-employment benefit obligations disclosures
The amounts charged to the Consolidated income statementare set out below:

2019 2018

£m £m

Pastservice cost 0.4 -
Total amounts charged to the Consolidated income statement 0.4 -

0On 26 October 2018, the High Court handed down ajudgmentinvolving the Lloyds Banking Group's defined benefit pension schemes. The
judgment concluded the schemes should be amended to equalise pension benefits formenand womeninrelation to guaranteed minimum
pension (GMP) benefits for the effect of unequal GMPs accrued between1990and 1997. The issues determined by the judgment affect many
other UK defined benefit pension schemes. We are working with the trustee of our pension scheme, and our actuarialand legal advisors, to
understand the extent to which the judgment crystallises additional liabilities for the pension scheme.

The trueimpact of GMP equalisation on the Scheme willnot be known untilmembers’ benefits have beenrectified, which could take overa
year. However, we understand thatitis necessary under the relevant accounting standard to make allowance for the estimated impact of GMP
equalisationas at the date of the judgment.

The estimated impact of the equalisation of GMP benefits has beenrecognisedin theincome statement as a past service cost. Thisamounted
toanincreaseinliabilities of £0.4masat 26 October 2018 which has beenincludedin the pension scheme liability at 31 March 2019.

Currentservice costsand pastservice costsare charged to theincome statementinarriving at Operating profit. Interestincome on Scheme
assetsandtheinterestcost on Scheme liabilities are included within finance costs.

Inaddition, the following amounts have beenrecognisedin the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

2019 2018
£m £m
Returnon Scheme assets (in excess of) / below thatrecognisedin netinterest (0.9) -
Actuariallosses / (gains) losses due to changesinassumptions 0.3 (1.0)
Actuarial (gains) / losses due to liability experience (0.5) 0.1
Effect of the surplus cap 0.9 0.9
Total amounts recognised within Consolidated statement of comprehensive income (0.2) -
Amountsrecognisedinthe balance sheetare as follows:
2019 2018
£m £m
Presentvalue of funded obligations 20.0 19.7
Fairvalue of planassets (22.2) (21.0)
Effectof surpluscap 2.2 1.3
Net asset recognised in the Consolidated balance sheet - -
The surplus of £2.2m (2018: £1.3m) has not beenrecognised asanassetasitisnotdeemed to be recoverable by the Group.
Movementsinthe fair value of Scheme assets were as follows:
2019 2018
£m £m
Fairvalue of Scheme assets at the beginning of the year 21.0 21.4
Interestincome on Scheme assets 0.5 0.5
Remeasurement gains on Scheme assets 1.0 -
Contributions by the employer 0.1 01
Net benefits paid (0.4) (1.0)
Fair value of Scheme assets at the end of the year 22.2 21.0
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Movementsin the fair value of Scheme liabilities were as follows:

2019 2018
£m £m
Fairvalue of Scheme liabilities at the beginning of the year 19.7 21.0
Pastservice cost 0.4 -
Interestexpense 0.5 0.5
Actuarial (gains) / losses on Scheme liabilities arising from changes in assumptions 0.3 (0.9)
Actuarial (gains)/losses on Scheme liabilities arising from experience (0.5) 0.1
Net benefits paid (0.4) (1.0)
Fair value of scheme liabilities at the end of the year 20.0 19.7
Movementsin post-employment benefit obligations were as follows:
2019 2018
£m £m
Opening post-employment benefit obligation = -
Pastservice cost 0.4 -
Interest - -
Contributions by the employer (04) (0.)
Remeasurementand experience gains 1.2) (0.8)
Effect of surplus cap 0.9 0.9
Closing post-retirement benefit obligation - -
Planassets are comprised as follows:
2019 2018
£m % £m %
Equities 12.2 55.0 1.4 54.3
Bonds 8.9 40.0 8.5 40.5
Realestate 11 5.0 11 5.2
Total 22.2 100.0 21.0 100.0

Allplanassets have aquoted market price.

Sensitivity to key assumptions

The table below gives anapproximation of the impact on the IAS19 (revised) pension scheme liabilities to changesinassumptions and
experience. Note thatall figures are before allowing for any deferred tax. The sensitivity information shown has been prepared using the same
method usedto adjust the results of the latest funding valuation to the balance sheet date.

Following a0.25% increase in the discount rate

Change New value

£m £m

Assets of the Scheme at 31 March 2019 - 22.2

Defined benefit obligation at 31 March 2019 1.0 (19.0)

Surplus at 31 March 2019 1.0 3.2
Following a0.25% increase in the inflation assumption

Change New value

£m £m

Assets of the Scheme at 31 March 2019 - 22.2

Defined benefit obligation at 31 March 2019 (0.4) (20.4)

Surplus at 31 March 2019 (0.4) 1.8

Following alyearincreasein life expectancy

Change New value

£m £m

Assets of the Scheme at 31 March 2019 - 22.2

Defined benefit obligation at 31 March 2019 (1.0) (21.0)

Surplus at 31 March 2019 (1.0) 1.2
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued
2019 2018

Number Amount Number Amount
Share capital '000 £m '000 £m
Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 1p each
At1April 952,161 9.5 978,971 9.8
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (18,963) (0.2) (26,810) (0.3)
Total 933,198 9.3 952161 95

Inthe year ended 31 March 2017, the Company commenced a share buyback programme. By resolutions passed at the 2018 AGM, the Company
was authorised to make market purchases of up to 94,802,631 of its ordinary shares, subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions.

Atotal of 20,229,881 ordinary shares of £0.01 were purchased in the year (2018: 26,809,702). The average price paid per share was 461.5p
(2018: 358.5p), with a total consideration paid (inclusive of all costs) of £94.0m (2018: £96.7m). 1,266,000 shares were purchased to be heldin

treasury (2018: nil), with 18,963,881 being cancelled.

Included withinsharesinissue at 31 March 2019 are 565,555 (2018: 932,761) shares held by the ESOT and 3,996,041(2018: 4,194,989) shares held in

treasury, as detailedin note 26.

ESOT shares Treasury
reserve shares Total
Ownsharesheld -£m £m £m £m
Own sharesheld asat1April 2017 and 31 March 2018 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
Own shares held asat1April 2018 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 0.6 - 0.6
Repurchase of ownshares for treasury - (5.8) (5.8)
Share-basedincentives - 5.6 5.6
Own shares held as at 31 March 2019 (0.8) (15.7) (16.5)
ESOT shares Treasury Total
reserve shares number of
Number of Number of ownshares
Own shares held —number shares shares held
Own sharesheld asat1April 2017 948,924 4,203,277 5,152,201
Transfer of shares from ESOT (16,163) - (16,163)
Share-basedincentives exercisedinthe year - (8,288) (8,288)
Ownsharesheld asat 31 March 2018 932,761 4194989 5127750
Own shares held as at1April 2018 932,761 494,989 5,127,750
Transfer of shares from ESOT (367,206) - (367,206)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - 1,266,000 1,266,000
Share-basedincentives exercisedinthe year - (1,464,948) (1,464,948)
Own sshares held as at 31 March 2019 565,555 3,996,041 4,561,596
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Dividends declared and paid by the Company were as follows:

2019 2018
Pence Pence

pershare £m per share £m

2017 final dividend paid - - 3.5 34.0
2018 interim dividend paid - - 1.9 18.2
2018 final dividend paid 4.0 37.9 - -
2019 interim dividend paid 241 19.7 - -
6.1 57.6 54 52.2

The proposed finaldividend for the year ended 31 March 2019 of 4.6p per share, totalling £42.7m, is subject to approval by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting ((AGM’') and hence has not beenincluded as aliability in the financial statements.

The 2019 interim dividend paid on 25 January 2019 was £19.7m. The 2018 final dividend paid on 28 September 2018 was £37.9m.

The Directors’ policy with regard to future dividends is set outin the Strategicreport on page 28.

(Restated)
2019 2018
£m £m
Profit before taxation 242.2 210.7
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 4.9 4.9
Amortisation 4.0 41
Share-based payments charge (excluding associated NI) 4.7 3.3
Share of profit fromjointventures (0.9) -
Profit onsale of property, plantand equipment 0.1 -
Difference between pension charge and cash contributions 0.3 -
Finance costs 10.2 10.6
Profit on disposal of subsidiary (8.7) -
Changesinworking capital (excluding the effects of exchange differences on consolidation):
Trade and otherreceivables (1.5) (2.9)
Trade and other payables 2.2 (2.3)
Provisions 1.0 -
Cash generated from operations 258.5 228.4

The Group currently operates four share plans: the Performance Share Plan, Deferred Annual Bonus and Single Incentive Plan, Share Incentive
Planand the Sharesave scheme.

Allshare-basedincentives are subjecttoaservice condition. Such conditions are not takeninto accountin the fair value of the service
received. The fairvalue of servicesreceivedinreturn for share-based incentivesis measured by reference to the fair value of share-based
incentives granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share-based incentivesis measured using either the Monte Carlo or Black-Scholes
pricing modelasis mostappropriate foreach scheme.

The totalcharge inthe yearrelating to the four schemes was £5.9m (2018: £3.7m) with a Company charge of £2.3m (2018: £1.0m). Thisincluded
associated nationalinsurance (‘NI') at13.8%, which management expects to be the prevailing rate when the awards are exercised, and
apprenticeship levyat 0.5%, based onthe share price at the reporting date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued
continued
Group Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
£m £m £m £m
Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’) - 0.8 - -
Sharesave scheme (‘SAYE’) 0.3 0.3 - -
Performance Share Plan ('PSP’) 241 1.8 1.3 0.7
Deferred Annual Bonus and Single Incentive Plan 2.3 0.4 0.4 0.2
Total share-based paymentcharge 4.7 3.3 1.7 0.9
Nland apprenticeship levy onapplicable schemes 1.2 04 0.6 01
Total charge 5.9 3.7 2.3 1.0
Share Incentive Plan

In 2015, the Group established a Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’). All eligible employees were awarded free shares (or nil-cost optionsin the case of
employeesinlreland) valued at £3,600 each based on the share price at the time of the Company’s admission to the Stock Exchange in March
2015, subject toathree-year service period (‘Vesting Period’). The SIP shareholders are entitled to dividends over the Vesting Period. There are
no performance conditions applicable to the vesting of SIP shares. The fair value of the SIP awards at the grant date was measured to be £2.72
using the Black-Scholes model. The resulting share-based payments charge is being spread evenly over the Vesting Period.

UKSIP
2019 2018
Number Number
Outstanding at1April 690,791 776,045
Dividend shares awarded 4,518 9778
Forfeited (9,275) (75,986)
Released (365,162) (19,046)
Outstanding at 31 March 320,872 690,791
Vested and outstanding at 31 March 320,872 -

The weighted average market value per ordinary share for SIP awards released in 2019 was 386.1p (2018: 372.0p). The SIP shares outstanding at
31 March 2018 have fully vested (2018: had a weighted average remaining vesting period of 0.1years). Shares released prior to the vesting date
relate to those attributable to good leavers as defined by the schemerrules.

Irish SIP
2019 2018
Number Number
Outstanding at1April 35,922 44,431
Dividend shares awarded - 788
Forfeited - (7950)
Exercised (30,506) (1,347)
Outstanding at 31 March 5,416 35922
Vested and outstanding at 31 March 5,416 -

The weighted average marketvalue per ordinary share for Irish SIP options exercised in 2019 was 350.0p (2018: 387.5p). The SIP shares
outstanding at 31 March 2018 have fully vested (2018: had a weighted average remaining vesting period of 0.1years). Options exercised prior to
the vesting daterelate to those attributable to good leavers as defined by the scheme rules.

Performance Share Plan

The Group operates a Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) for Executive Directors, the Operating Leadership Team and certain key employees. The
extent to which awards vest willdepend upon the Group's performance over the three-year period following the award date. Both market
based and non-market based performance conditions may be attached to the options, for which anappropriate adjustmentis made when
calculating the fair value of an option. If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options expire.
Furthermore, options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest, unless under exceptional circumstances.

On17 August 2018, the Group awarded 452,695 nil cost options under the PSP scheme. For the 2018 awards, the Group's performance is measured
byreference to the growthin Operating profit (75% of the award) and growth in Revenue (25% of the award) over the three-year period April 2018

- March 2021. For previous awards, the Group’s performance had been measured by reference to the cumulative profit measure (Underlying
operating profit for 2015 and 2016 awards, and Operating profit for 2017 awards) and total shareholder returnrelative to the FTSE 250 share index.
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The fair value of the 2018 award was determined using a Black-Scholes pricing model. The PSP awards granted prior to 2018 have been valued
using the Monte Carlo model for the TSR element and the Black-Scholes model for the Operating profitand Underlying operating profit
element. Theresulting share-based payments charge is being spread evenly over the period between the grant date and the vesting date.

PSPaward holders are entitled to receive dividends accruing between the grant date and the vesting date and this value will be deliveredin
shares. The assumptions used in the measurement of the fair value at grant date of the PSP awards are as follows:

Share price Exercise  Expected Option  Risk-free Dividend ve::;:g Fairvalue
at grantdate price volatility life rate yield condition peroption
Grantdate Condition £ £ % years % % % £
19 June 2015 TSR dependent 3.06 Nil 30 3.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 2.08
19 June 2015 UOP dependent 3.06 Nil n/a 3.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 3.06
17 June 2016 TSR dependent 3.89 Nil 29 3.0 04 04 0.0 216
17 June 2016 UOP dependent 3.89 Nil n/a 3.0 04 04 0.0 3.89
16 June 2017 TSRdependent 4.00 Nil 31 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 217
16 June 2017 OPdependent 4.00 Nil n/a 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 4.00
30 August 2017 TSR dependent 3.42 Nil 31 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 217
30 August 2017 OPdependent 3.42 Nil n/a 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 3.42
17 August 2018 OPdependent 4.48 Nil n/a 3.0 0.7 1.7 0.0 4.48
17 August 2018 Revenue dependent 448 Nil n/a 3.0 0.7 1.7 0.0 4.48
Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant date.
The number of options outstanding and exercisable as at 31t March was as follows:
2019 2018
Number Number
Outstanding at1April 3,104,563 2,682,738
Options granted inthe year 452,695 1188149
Dividend shares awarded 9,749 -
Options forfeitedinthe year (105,213) (766,324)
Options exercisedintheyear (483,316) -
Outstanding at 31 March 2.978,478 304,563
Exercisable at 31 March 721,269 -

The weighted average market value per ordinary share for PSP options exercised in 2019 was 445.0p (2018: n/a). The PSP awards outstanding at
31 March 2019 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 0.8 years (2018: 1.2 years) and a weighted average contractual life of 7.6
years(2018: 8.2 years).

Deferred Annual Bonus and Single Incentive Plan
The Group operates the Deferred Annual Bonus and Single Incentive Plan for the Operational Leadership Team and certain key employees. The
Plan consists of two schemes, the Deferred Annual ('DAB’) and the Single Incentive Plan Award (‘SIPA’).

Deferred Annual Bonus

The Group operates a Deferred Annualscheme ('DABP’) for Executive Directors and certain key senior executives. Awards under the planare
contingenton the satisfaction of pre-setinternal targetsrelating to financialand operational objectives. Awards have a vesting period of two
years fromthe date of the award (the ‘Vesting Period’) and are potentially forfeitable during that period should the employee leave
employment. The DABP awards have been valued using the Black-Scholes method and the resulting share-based payments chargeis being
spread evenly over the combined Performance Period and Vesting Period of the shares, being three years.

On16 June 2018, the Group awarded 71,552 nil cost options under the DABP scheme. The assumptions used in the measurement of the fair value
at grant date of the DABP awards are as follows:

Share price at Exercise Option Risk-free Dividend Non-vesting Fairvalue

grantdate price life rate yield condition per option

Grantdate £ £ years % % % £
17 June 2016 3.89 Nil 2.0 0.4 0.4 0.0 3.89
16 June 2017 4.00 Nil 2.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 4.00
17 August 2018 448 Nil 2.0 0.7 1.7 0.0 448
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The number of options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March was as follows:

2019 2018

Number Number

Outstandingat1April 303,880 248,263
Options grantedinthe year 71,552 127,691
Dividend shares awarded 3,343 1,306
Options forfeitedintheyear = (73,380)
Options exercisedinthe year (229,378) -
Outstanding at 31 March 149,397 303,880
Exercisable at 31 March - 74,686

The weighted average marketvalue per ordinary share for DABP options exercised in 2019 was 438.1p (2018: n/a). The DABP awards outstanding
at 31 March 2018 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 0.8 years (2018:1.2 years) and a weighted average contractual life of 8.8
years (2018: 9.2 years). The charge for the yearincludes an estimate of the awards to be granted after the balance sheetdate inrespect of
achievement of 2019 targets.

Single Incentive Plan Award

During the period, the Group introduced a new Single Incentive Plan Award (‘SIPA’) for the Operating Leadership Teamand certain key
employees. The schemereplaces the Performance Share Plan and the annual cash bonus scheme for allnew awards for those individuals. The
extenttowhichawards vest willdepend upon the satisfaction of the Group's financialand operational performance in the financial year of the
award date (the “Performance Conditions”). The awards will vestin tranches, with the first tranche vesting on the date on which the
Remuneration Committee determines that the Performance Conditions have been satisfied, and subsequent tranches vesting on the firstand
second anniversary of this date, subject to continuing employment.

On17 August 2018, the Group awarded 974,106 nil cost options under the SIPA scheme. For the 2018 awards, the Group's performanceis
measured by reference to Operating profit (75% of the award), live car stock advertised on autotrader.co.uk (12.5% of the award) and the
average number of full page advert views (12.5% of the award). The fair value of the 2018 award was determined to be £4.48 per optionusing a
Black-Scholes pricing model. The resulting share-based payments chargeis being spread evenly over the period between the grant date and
the vesting date. SIPAaward holders are entitled toreceive dividends accruing between the grant date and the vesting date and this value will
be deliveredinshares.

The assumptionsusedinthe measurement of the fair value at grant date of the PSP awards are as follows:

Non-

Share price Exercise  Expected Option  Risk-free Dividend vesting  Fairvalue

atgrantdate price volatility life rate yield condition peroption

Grantdate £ £ % years % % % £

17 August 2018 448 Nil n/a 3.0 0.7 1.7 0.0 448
Expectedvolatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant date.

The number of options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March was as follows:

2019 2018

Number Number

Outstanding at1April = -

Options grantedinthe year 974,106 -

Options forfeitedinthe year (51,054) -

Outstanding at 31 March 923,052 -

Exercisable at 31 March - _
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Sharesave scheme

The Group operates a Sharesave (‘SAYE') scheme for allemployees under which employees are granted an option to purchase ordinary shares
inthe Companyatup to 20%less than the market price atinvitation, in three years' time,dependent on their enteringinto acontract to make
monthly contributionsinto a savings account over the relevant period. Options are granted and are linked to a savings contract with a term of
threeyears. These funds are used to fund the option exercise. No performance criteriaare applied to the exercise of Sharesave options. The
assumptionsusedinthe measurement of the fair value at grant date of the Sharesave plan are as follows:

Non-
Share price Exercise Expected Option Risk-free Dividend vesting  Fairvalue
at grant date price volatility life rate yield condition peroption
Grantdate £ £ % years % % % £
25 September 2015 3.28 2.64 30 3.0 1.0 0.0 33 0.96
13 December 2017 3.48 2.59 31 3.0 0.6 1.3 14 112
14 December 2018 448 3.49 29 3.0 0.7 1.7 16 1.29

Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant date. The requirement thatan employee has
tosaveinordertopurchase sharesunder the Sharesave planis anon-vesting condition. This feature has beenincorporatedinto the fair value
at grantdate by applying a discount to the valuation obtained from the Black-Scholes pricing model.

2019 2018

Weighted Weighted

Number average Number average

ofshare  exercise price ofshare exercise price

options £ options £

Outstanding at1April 1,530,852 2.61 919,281 2.64
Options grantedinthe year 699,528 3.49 728,520 2.59
Options exercisedintheyear (721,748) 2.64 (6,941) 2.64
Optionslapsedintheyear (160,934) 2.70 (110,008) 2.63
Outstanding at 31 March 1,347,698 3.05 1,530,852 2.61
Exercisable at 31 March 34,731 2.64 - -

The weighted average market value per ordinary share for Sharesave options exercised in 2019 was 424.8p (2018: 372.5p). The Sharesave
options outstanding at 31 March 2019 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 2.3 years (2018:1.7 years) and a weighted average
contractuallife of 2.8 years (2018: 2.2 years).

On 25 April 2017, Auto Trader Limited, a subsidiary of Auto Trader Group plc, acquired the entire share capital of Motor Trade Delivery Limited
('MTD’),an online real-time marketplace for the trade delivery of vehicles across the UK. Through the platform, car dealerships andrental
companies list ‘jobs’ - vehicles that need moving to another retailer site ora customer - and logistics providers bid for the jobs viaalive
auction process. Thisacquisitionis an extension of Auto Trader’s overall strategy of using digital technology to improve efficiencies for
retailer customers.

The total cash consideration paid of £12.2 million excludes acquisition costs of £0.2 million which were recognised within administrative
expensesinthe Consolidatedincome statement.

The following table provides areconciliation of the amountsincluded in the Consolidated statement of cash flows:

2018

£m

Cash paid for subsidiary 12.2
Less: cashacquired (0.3)
Net cash outflow 1.9

From the period fromacquisition to 31 March 2018, MTD contributed revenue of £1.1 million,and aloss of £0.5million (afteranamortisation
charge of £1.0 million) to the Group's results.
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The purchase hasbeenaccounted foras abusiness combination under the acquisition methodinaccordance with IFRS 3. The fair value of net
assetsacquired was assessed and no material adjustments from book value were made to existing assets and liabilities. The period in which
measurementadjustments could be made has now closed on this acquisitionand the final goodwill calculationis summarised below:

Fairvalue
£m

Intangible assets recognised on acquisition:
Customer relationships 3.2
Non-compete agreement 0.6
Website 04
Deferredtaxliability arising onintangible assets (0.7)
Intangible assets and related deferred tax 3.5

Currentassets

Trade and otherreceivables 0.7
Cashand cashequivalents 0.3
Currentassets 1.0
Current liabilities (0.8)
Totalnetassetsacquired 3.7
Goodwillonacquisition 8.5
Total assets acquired 12.2
Cash consideration 12.2

The goodwillrecognised on acquisitionrelates to value arising fromintangible assets that are not separately identifiable under IFRS 3. This
represents synergies expected to arise from combining with the existing business of Auto Trader Limited. None of the acquired intangible
assets or goodwillis expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Inadditionto the goodwill recognised, the customer relationships, non-compete agreement and website obtained through the acquisition
met the requirements to be separately identifiable under IFRS 3.

Financial assets

2019 2018

Note £m £m

Nettradereceivables 18 24.9 254
Accruedincome 18 28.0 26.7
Otherreceivables 18 0.3 01
Cash and cashequivalents 19 5.9 4.3
Total 59.1 56.5

Creditrisk
The carrying amount of financial assets, previously recognised as loans and receivables under IAS 39 now classified as amortised costunder
IFRS 9, represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 March 2019 was £59.1m (2018: £56.5m).

The maximum exposure to creditrisk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:

2019 2018

Note £m £m

UK 24.5 24.9
Ireland 04 0.5
Total 24.9 254
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The maximum exposure to creditrisk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of customer was:

2019 2018

£m £m

Retailers 204 21.7
Manufacturerand Agency 3.2 3.0
Other 1.3 0.7
Total 24.9 254

The Group’s most significant customer accounts for £0.5m (2018: £0.6m) of net trade receivables as at 31 March 2019.

Expected credit loss assessment

Expected creditlosses are measured using a provisioning matrix based onthe reason the trade receivable is past due. The provision matrix
rates are based onactualcreditloss experience over the past three years and adjusted, whenrequired, to take into account current macro-
economic factors. For certain customers the Group applies experienced credit judgement thatis determined to be predictive of the risk of
loss to assess the expected credit loss, taking into account external ratings, financial statements and other available information. The
following table providesinformation about the exposure to creditriskand expected credit losses for trade receivables fromindividual

customersasat 31 March 2019.

Weighted- Grosscarrying Loss
average loss amount allowance Credit-
rate £m £m impaired
Current 0.4% 21.5 (01) No
Pastdue1-30 days 0.7% 2.9 - No
Pastdue 31-60 days 8.5% 0.4 - No
Pastdue 61-90 days 43.7% 0.2 (0.) No
More than 91days pastdue 97.0% 2.0 (1.9) No
270 (2.1)
Comparative information under IAS 39
The ageing of trade receivables at 31 March 2018 under IAS 39 was as follows:
Gross Impairment
£m £m
Current 22.0 (04)
Pastdue1-30 days 2.9 -
Pastdue 31-60 days 0.5 -
Pastdue 61-90 days - -
More than 91days pastdue 3.4 (3.3)
28.8 (3.4)

The movementinthe allowance forimpairmentinrespect of trade receivables during the year was as follows. Comparative amounts for 2018

represent the allowance account forimpairmentlosses under IAS 39:

2019 2018

Note £m £m

At1April 18 3.4 31
Charged during the year 0.8 2.0
Utilised during the year (24) (1.7)
At 31 March 18 21 3.4

The Group hasidentified specific balances for whichithas provided animpairment allowance onaline by line basis across all ledgers, in
bothyears. The allowance accountsinrespect of trade receivables are used torecordimpairmentlosses unless the Group is satisfied
thatnorecovery of the amount owingis possible; at that point the amounts considered irrecoverable are written of f against the financial

assetdirectly.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash balances are held with the Group's principal bankers, Royal Bank of Scotland, and are used for working capital purposes. The Directors do

not consider deposits at thisinstitution to be at risk.

Financial liabilities

2019 2018 (restated)
Asper Future Total Asper Future Total
balance sheet interest cost cashflows balancesheet interest cost cash flows
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Trade and other payables 15.6 - 15.6 14.9 - 14.9
Borrowings (gross of debtissue costs) 313.0 - 313.0 343.0 - 343.0
Leases 16.1 3.6 19.7 18.2 4.6 22.8
Total 344.7 3.6 348.3 376.1 4.6 380.7

Trade and other payables are as disclosed within note 20, excluding other taxation and social security liabilities and deferredincome.

IFRS 7 requires the contractual future interest cost of a financial liability to be included within the above table. As disclosed in note 21 of these
consolidated financial statements, allborrowings are currently drawn under a syndicated debt arrangementand repayments can be made at
any time without penalty. As such thereisno contractual future interest cost. Interestis payable onborrowings’ drawnamounts at arate of
LIBOR prevailing at the time of drawdown plus the applicable margin, which ranges from1.2%and 2.1%. Interest paid in the yearinrelation to

borrowingsamounted to £6.6 million.

The Company had no derivative financial liabilities in either year. Itis not expected that the cash flows includedin the maturity analysis could

occur earlier or at significantly differentamounts.

Liquidity risk

The maturity of financial liabilities based on contracted cash flowsis shownin the table below. This table has been drawn up using the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Groupis obliged to pay. The table includes bothinterest
and principal cash flows. Floating rate interest payments have been calculated using the relevantinterestrates prevailing at the yearend,

where applicable.

Tradeand
other payables Borrowings Leases Total
As at 31 March 2019 £m £m £m £m
Due withinoneyear 15.6 = 2.7 18.3
Due withinone to twoyears - - 2.7 2.7
Due withintwo to five years - 313.0 75 320.5
Due after more than five years = = 6.8 6.8
Total 15.6 313.0 19.7 348.3
Trade and
other payables Borrowings Leases Total
As at 31 March 2018 (restated) £m £m £m £m
Due withinone year 14.9 - 31 18.0
Due withinone to twoyears - 343.0 2.7 345.7
Due withintwotofive years - - 78 7.8
Due aftermore than five years - - 9.2 9.2
Total 14.9 343.0 22.8 380.7
Fairvalues

The fairvalues of all financialinstrumentsin both years are equal to the carrying values.
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Analysis of net debt

Netdebtis calculated as total borrowings net of unamortised bank facility fees, less cash and cash equivalents. Non-cash changes represent
the effects of the recognitionand subsequentamortisation of feesrelating to the bank facility, changing maturity profiles, and new leases
enteredintoduring the year.

At Non-cash At
1April 2018 Cash flow changes  31March2019
March 2019 £m £m £m £m
Debtdue aftermore thanoneyear 340.8 (30.0) (0.5) 310.3
Accruedinterest 0.5 (6.6) 6.6 0.5
Lease liabilities 18.2 (3.9) 1.0 16.1
Totaldebtandlease financing 359.5 (39.7) 71 326.9
Cashandcashequivalents (4.3) (1.6) - (5.9)
Net debt 355.2 (41.3) 71 321.0
At Non-cash At
1April 2017 Cash flow changes  31March2018
March 2018 (restated) £m £m £m £m
Debt due after more than oneyear 357.8 (20.0) 3.0 340.8
Accruedinterest 0.5 (6.7) 6.7 0.5
Lease liabilities 19.7 (2.3) 0.8 18.2
Totaldebtandlease financing 378.0 (29.0) 10.5 359.5
Cashand cashequivalents (8.0) 3.7 - (4.3)
Net debt 370.0 (25.3) 10.5 355.2
Reconciliation of movements in liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities
Liabilities Equity
Borrowings Finance
and accrued lease Share Retained Ownshares Other
interest liabilities capital earnings held reserves Total
Balance as of 1 April 2018 341.3 18.2 9.5 1,042.7 (16.9) (1,029.7) 365.1
Changes from financing cash flows
Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders - - - (57.6) - - (57.6)
Repayment of Syndicated Term Loan (343.0) - - - - - (343.0)
Drawdown of Syndicated revolving credit facility 4471 - - - - - 4471
Repayment of Syndicated revolving credit facility (134.1) - - - - - (134.1)
Payment of refinancing fees (3.3) - - - - - (3.3)
Paymentof interest onborrowings (6.6) - - - - - (6.6)
Payment of lease liabilities - (31 - - - - (31)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation - - (0.2) (87.7) - 0.2 (87.7)
Purchase of own shares for treasury - - - - (5.8) - (5.8)
Payment of fees onrepurchase of own shares - - - (0.5) - - (0.5)
Proceeds from exercise of share-based incentives - - - 1.9 - - 1.9
Totalchanges from financing cash flows (39.9) (3.1) (0.2) (143.9) (5.8) 0.2 (192.7)
Other changes - liability related
Interestexpense 9.3 0.9 - - - - 10.2
Other 0.1 - - - - - 0.1
Totalliability related other changes 94 0.9 - - - - 10.3
Totalequityrelated other changes - - - 197.0 6.2 (0.) 2031
Balance as of 31 March 2019 310.8 16.0 9.3 1,095.8 (16.5) (1,029.6) 385.8
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued
continued
Liabilities Equity
Finance Share
lease capital / Retained Ownshares Other

Borrowings liabilities premium earnings held reserves Total
Balance as of 1 April 2017 358.3 19.7 9.8 1,0171 (16.9) (1,030.2) 357.8
Changes from financing cash flows
Dividends paid to Company's shareholders - - - (52.2) - - (52.2)
Repayment of Syndicated Term Loan (20.0) - - - - - (20.0)
Payment of interest on borrowings (6.7) - - - - - (6.7)
Payment of lease liabilities - (2.3) - - - - (2.3)
Purchase of ownshares for cancellation - - (0.3) (96.2) - 0.3 (96.2)
Payment of fees onrepurchase of own shares - - - (0.5) - - (0.5)
Totalchanges from financing cash flows (26.7) (2.3) (0.3) (148.9) - 0.3 (177.9)
Other changes - liability related
Interest expense 9.8 0.8 - - - - 10.6
Other (01) - - - - (01)
Totalliability related other changes 9.7 0.8 - - - - 10.5
Totalequity related other changes - - - 174.5 - 0.2 174.7
Balance as of 31 March 2018 341.3 18.2 9.5 1,042.7 (16.9) (1,029.7) 365.1

The Group previously reported a contingent liability in respect of the rate of VAT applicable to ourinsurance intermediary revenue within
Consumer Services, dating back from 2013 onwards. In July 2018 HMRC confirmed the Group’s treatment of insurance intermediary revenue for
VAT purposes was appropriate. The Group did notincur any liability and the enquiry in respect of this matteris now closed.

Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited
The following related party transactions were entered into by subsidiary companies during the year under the terms of ajoint venture agreement
with Cox Automotive UK Limited.

At 31 March 2019 the outstanding other receivable balance from Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited was £0.1m (2018: £nil). The receivable relates to
staff costs paid onbehalf of Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited.

At 31 March 2019 the outstanding other creditor balance with Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited was £0.2m. The creditor relates to amounts invoiced
to customerson behalf of Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited.

Allbalances willbe settled in cash. There were no provisions for doubtful related party receivables at 31 March 2019 (2018: £nil) and no charge to
theincome statementinrespect of doubtfulrelated party receivables (2018: £nil).

During the yearasubsidiary company provided data services to Auto Trader Auto Stock Limited under alicence agreement. The value of services
provided was £0.1m (2018: £nil). At 3t March 2019, deferred income outstandinginrelation to the licence agreement was £11.2m (2018: £nil).

Other related party transactions

During the year, the Group transacted with Burns Sheehan Limited, a third party in which a Director holds a shareholding. Thiscompany s
deemedtobearelated party. Costsincurred wereinrespect of recruitment consultancy services whichamounted to £1,250 (2018: £34,737).
There were noamounts outstanding at the year end. All transactions were completed onanarm’s length basis.

Key Management personnel compensation has beendisclosedinnote 8.
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Subsidiaries
At 31 March 2019 the Group's subsidiaries were:
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Country of Percentage Percentage

registration or Class of owned by the owned by the
Subsidiary undertakings incorporation Principal activity shares held parent Group
Auto Trader Holding Limited' England and Wales Financing company Ordinary 100% 100%
Auto Trader Limited' England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 100%
Trader Licensing Limited' England and Wales Dormantcompany Ordinary - 100%
Webzone Limited? Republic of Ireland Online marketplace Ordinary - 100%
Motor Trade Delivery Limited* England and Wales Non-trading Ordinary - 100%

1 Registered office addressis 4th floor,1Tony Wilson Place, Manchester, M15 4FN.
2 Registeredoffice addressis Paramount Court, Corrig Road, Sandyford Industrial Estate, Dublin18, D18 R9C7.
3 Registered office addressis HillHouse, 1Little New Street, London, EC4A 3TR.

Aguarantee existsinrespect of the wholly owned subsidiary thatisincorporatedin the Republic of Ireland and consolidated within these
financial statements. They have availed themselves of an exemption from filing their individual financial statementsinaccordance with
Section 357 of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2014, Ireland.

Allsubsidiaries have ayear end of 31 March.

Jointventures
At 31 March 2019 the Group'sinterestsinjointventures were:

Country of Percentage Percentage

registration or Classof owned by the owned by the
Jointventures incorporation Principal activity shares held parent Group
Dealer Auction (Holdings) Limited' England and Wales Holding company Ordinary - 49%
Dealer Auction Limited' England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 49%
Auto Trader Autostock Limited' England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 49%
Dealer Auction Services Limited' Republic of Ireland Online marketplace Ordinary N 49%

1 Registered office addressis Central House, Leeds Road, Rothwell, Leeds, West Yorkshire, England, LS26 0OJE.

Alljoint ventures have ayear end of 31 December whichis consistent with the year end of the majority shareholder.

On5June 2019, the Group extended the term for £316.5m of the Syndicated revolving credit facility for one year. The Syndicated revolving
credit facility willnow terminate in two tranches:

- £316.5m will maturein June 2024; and
- £83.5mwillmature atthe original termination date of June 2023.

Thereisnochangetotheinterestrate payable and thereisnorequirementto settle all, or part, of the debt earlier than the termination dates
stated.
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Company balance sheet

At 31 March 2019
2019 2018
Note £m £m
Fixed assets
Investments 3 1,216.0 1,212.9
1,216.0 1,212.9
Current assets
Debtors 4 415.9 440.7
Cashand cashequivalents 5 - 0.2
415.9 440.9
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6 (411.4) (288.4)
Net current assets 4.5 152.5
Net assets 1,220.5 1,365.4
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 9 9.3 9.5
Own shares held 10 (16.5) (16.9)
Capitalredemptionreserve 0.7 0.5
Retained earnings 1,227.0 1,372.3
Total equity 1,220.5 1,365.4

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 June 2019 and authorised forissue.

Nathan Coe

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer-designate
6June 2019

Auto Trader Group plc Registered number 09439967
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Company statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Capital
Share Ownshares redemption Retained Total
capital held reserve earnings equity
£m £m £m £m £m
Balance at March 2017 9.8 (16.9) 0.2 1,5191 1,512.2
Loss fortheyear - - - (1.4) (1.4)
Totalcomprehensive expense, net of tax - - - (1.4) (1.4)
Transactions with owners:
Purchase and cancellation of ownshares (0.3) - 0.3 (96.7) (96.7)
Dividends paid - - - (52.2) (52.2)
Share-based payments - - - 3.3 3.3
Deferred tax onshare-based payments - - - 0.2 0.2
Total transactions with ownersrecognised directly in equity (0.3) - 0.3 (145.4) (145.4)
Balance at March 2018 9.5 (16.9) 0.5 1,372.3 1,365.4
Loss fortheyear - - - (0.2) (0.2)
Totalcomprehensive expense, net of tax - - - (0.2) (0.2)
Transactions with owners:
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (0.2) - 0.2 (88.2) (88.2)
Dividends paid - - - (57.6) (57.6)
Share-based payments - - - 4.7 47
Exercise of employee share schemes - 5.6 - (3.7) 1.9
Transfer of shares from ESOT - 0.6 - (0.6) -
Acquisition of treasury shares - (5.8) - - (5.8)
Taxonshare-based payments - - - 0.3 0.3
Total transactions with ownersrecognised directly in equity (0.2) 04 0.2 (145.1) (144.7)
Balance at March 2019 9.3 (16.5) 0.7 1,227.0 1,220.5
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Notes to the Company financial statements

Auto Trader Group plcisapublic limited company whichis listed on the London Stock Exchange and is domiciled and incorporatedinthe
United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The Company was incorporated on13 February 2015 and adopted FRS102 from that date.

Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

The Company financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc have been preparedin compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland’
(‘FRS102')and the Companies Act 2006. The Company financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention, as
modified for the revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities through profit or loss. The current year financialinformation presentedis
atand fortheyearended 31 March 2019. The comparative financialinformation presentedis atand for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The Directors have used the going concern principle on the basis that the current profitable financial projections and facilities of the
consolidated Group will continue in operation for a period not less than12 months from the date of thisreport.

The Company financial statements have been preparedinsterling (£), whichis the functionaland presentational currency of the Company, and
have beenrounded to the nearest hundred thousand (£0.1m) except where otherwise indicated.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, an entity profitand loss accountis notincluded as part of the published consolidated
financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc. The loss for the financial period dealt with in the financial statements of the parent Company
was £0.2m (2018: loss of £1.4m).

As the Companyisincludedinthe consolidated financial statements andis considered to be a qualifying entity under FRS102 paragraphs1.8 to
112, the following exemptions have been applied:

- noseparate parent Company statement of comprehensive income with related notes has beenincluded;
- noseparate parent Company cash flow statement with related notes has beenincluded; and

- Key Management personnelcompensation has notbeenincludedasecond time.

Amounts paid to the Company’s auditorsinrespect of the statutory audit were £58,350 (2018: £56,650). The charge was borne by a subsidiary
company andnotrecharged.

Estimation techniques

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with FRS102 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise theirjudgementinthe process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areasinvolving a higher degree of
judgement orcomplexity, orareas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are:

- share-based payments; and

- carrying value of investments.

Share-based paymentarrangementsin which the Group receives goods or services as consideration forits own equity instruments are
accounted foras equity-settled share-based payment transactions. The accounting policies of such arrangements are disclosed in note 1 of
the Group accounts. The fair value of servicesreceivedinreturn for share optionsis calculated with reference to the fair value of the award on
the date of grant. Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo models have been used where appropriate to calculate the fair value and the Directors have
therefore made estimates with regard to the inputs to that modeland the period over which the share award is expected to vest (note 29 of the
consolidated Group financial statements).

Where equity-settled share-based payments are granted to the employees of subsidiary companies, the fair value of the award s treated as
acapital contribution by the Company and the investmentsin subsidiaries are adjusted to reflect this capital contribution.

The Group considers annually whether the carrying value of investments has suffered any impairmentinaccordance with the accounting
policy stated. The recoverable amounts of investments have been determined based onvalue-in-use calculations, which require the use of
estimates.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investmentsin subsidiaries are held at cost, less any provision forimpairment. Annually, the Directors consider whetherany events or
circumstances have occurred that could indicate that the carrying amount of fixed asset investments may not be recoverable. If such
circumstances do exist, a fullimpairment review isundertaken to establish whether the carryingamount exceeds the higher of netrealisable
value orvalueinuse. If thisis the case,animpairment chargeisrecorded toreduce the carrying value of the related investment.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to theissue of new shares are shownin equity asadeduction
fromthe proceeds.

Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from equity attributable to the Group's
shareholders. Where such shares are subsequently cancelled, the nominal value of the shares repurchased is deducted from share capitaland
transferred to a capitalredemptionreserve. Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital to hold in Treasury, the consideration
paid for the sharesis shown as own shares held within equity.
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Shares held by the Employee Share Option Trust
Sharesinthe Company held by the Employee Share Option Trust ('ESOT') are included in the balance sheet at costasadeduction from equity.

Taxation
UK corporationtaxis provided atamounts expected to be paid or recovered using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferredtaxisrecognisedinrespectof all timing differences that have originated but notreversed at the balance sheet date, where
transactions or events thatresultinan obligation to pay more taxin the future oraright to pay less taxin the future have occurred on the
balance sheetdate.

Anetdeferredtaxassetisregardedasrecoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of allevidence available, it can be
regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits against which torecover carried-forward tax losses and from which
the future reversal of underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred taxis measured at the average rates that are expected to applyin the periodsin which the timing differences are expected toreverse
based onthetaxratesandlaws thathave beenenacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred taxis measured onan
undiscounted basis.

Financialinstruments
The Company has chosentoadopt Sections1tand12 of FRS102inrespect of financialinstruments.

a) Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and otherreceivables, cash and bank balances and investmentsin commercial paper, are initially
recognised at transaction price (unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction) and are subsequently carried atamortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financialassets which constitute a financing transaction are measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market
rate of interest. Such assets are subsequently carried at fair value and the changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss, except that
investmentsin equity instruments that are not publicly traded and whose fair values cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost
lessimpairment.

Atthe end of eachreporting period financial assets measured atamortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment. If an
assetisimpaired theimpairmentlossis the difference between the carryingamountand the presentvalue of the estimated cash flows
discounted atthe asset’s original effective interestrate. Theimpairment lossis recognised in profit or loss.

If thereisadecreaseintheimpairmentlossarising froman event occurring after the impairment was recognised, theimpairmentisreversed.
Thereversalissuch that the current carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not
previously beenrecognised. Theimpairmentreversalisrecognisedin profit or loss.

Financialassetsare derecognised when (a) the contractualrights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or (b) substantially all
therisks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another party or (c) despite having retained some significant risks and
rewards of ownership, control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical ability to unilaterally sell the asset to an
unrelated third party withoutimposing additional restrictions.

b) Financial liabilities

Basic financialliabilities, including trade and other payables, bank loans, loans from fellow Group companies and preference shares thatare
classified as debt, areinitially recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt
instrumentis measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a marketrate of interest. Debtinstruments are subsequently
carried atamortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent thatitis probable that some orall
of the facility willbe drawn down. Inthis case, the feeis deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent thereis no evidence thatitis
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to whichitrelates.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have beenacquiredin the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if paymentis due within one year or less. If not, they are presented asnon-current
liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction price and subsequently measured atamortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Dividend distribution

Dividends to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Company'’s financial statementsin the period in which the
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholdersin the case of final dividends. Inrespect of interim dividends, these are recognised
once paid.
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Notes to the Company financial statements
continued

The Company has no employees other than the Directors. Full details of the Directors’ remuneration and interests are set outin the Directors’
remuneration reporton pages 64 to 74.

2019 2018

£m £m

Atbeginning of the period 1,212.9 1,210.5
Additions 3.1 24
At end of the period 1,216.0 1,212.9

The additionsinthe yearand prior year relate to equity-settled share-based payments granted to the employees of subsidiary companies.

Subsidiary undertakings are disclosed within note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

2019 2018

£m £m

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 414.7 439.9

Deferredtaxasset 1.2 0.8

Total 415.9 440.7
Amounts owed by Group undertakings are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed date of repayment.

2019 2018

£m £m

Cashatbankandinhand - 0.2

2019 2018

£m £m

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 409.7 2873

Accrualsand deferredincome 1.7 11

Total 414 288.4

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed date of repayment.

Financialinstruments utilised by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019 and the year ended 31 March 2018 may be analysed as follows:

2019 2018
Financial assets £m £m
Financialassets measured atamortised cost 414.7 439.9
2019 2018
Financial liabilities £m £m
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1.4 288.4

Current assets and liabilities
Financialinstrumentsincluded within current assets and liabilities (excluding cash and borrowings) are generally short termin nature and
accordingly their fair values approximate to their book values.
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Dividends declared and paid by the Company were as follows:

2019 2018
Pence Pence

per share £m per share £m
2017 final dividend paid - - 3.5 34.0
2018 interim dividend paid = = 1.9 18.2
2018 final dividend paid 4.0 37.9 - -
2019 interim dividend paid 241 19.7 - -
6.1 57.6 54 52.2

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019 of 4.6p per share, totalling £42.7m, is subject to approval by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting ((AGM’) and hence has not beenincluded as aliability in the financial statements.

The 2019 interim dividend paid on 25 January 2019 was £19.7m. The 2018 final dividend paid on 28 September 2018 was £37.9m.

The Directors’ policy with regard to future dividends is set outin the Strategic report on page 29.

2019 2018

Number Amount Number Amount

Share capital 000 £m 000 £m
Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 1p each

At1April 952,161 9.5 978,971 9.8

Purchase and cancellation of own shares (18,963) (0.2) (26,810) (0.3)

Total 933,198 9.3 95261 9.5

Inthe year ended 31 March 2017, the Company commenced a share buyback programme. By resolutions passed at the 2018 AGM, the Company
was authorised to make market purchases of up to 94,802,631 of its ordinary shares, subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions.

Atotal of 20,229,881 ordinary shares of £0.01 were purchased in the year (2018: 26,809,702). The average price paid per share was 461.5p
(2018:358.5p), with a total consideration paid (inclusive of all costs) of £94.0m (2018: £96.7m). 1,266,000 shares were purchased to be heldin
treasury (2018: nil) with 18,963,811 being cancelled.

Included within sharesinissue at 31 March 2019 are 565,555 (2018: 932,761) shares held by the ESOT and 3,996,041(2018: 4,194,989) shares held in
treasury, as detailedin note 10.
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Notes to the Company financial statements

continued
ESOT shares Treasury

reserve shares Total
Ownsharesheld -£m £m £m £m
Own shares held asat1April 2017 and 31 March 2018 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
Ownsharesheldat1April 2018 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 0.6 - 0.6
Repurchase of ownshares for treasury - (5.8) (5.8)
Share-basedincentives - 5.6 5.6
Own shares held as at 31 March 2019 (0.8) (15.7) (16.5)
ESOT shares Treasury Total
reserve shares number of
Number of Number of ownshares
Own shares held —number shares shares held
Own shares held as at1April 2017 948,924 4,203,277 5152,201
Transfer of shares from ESOT (16,163) - (16,163)
Share-basedincentives - (8,288) (8,288)
Own shares held at 31 March 2018 932,761 4194,989 5127750
Own sharesheld at1April 2018 932,761 4194,989 5127750
Transfer of shares from ESOT (367,206) - (367,206)
Repurchase of ownshares for treasury - 1,266,000 1,266,000
Share-basedincentives - (1464,948) (1,464,948)
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2019 565,555 3,996,041 4,561,596

During the year,amanagement charge of £4.6m (2018: £2.1m) was received from Auto Trader Limited inrespect of services rendered.

Attheyearend, balances outstanding with other Group undertakings were £414.7mand £409.7mrespectively for debtors and creditors
(2018: £439.9mand £287.3m) as setoutinnotes4and 6.

On5June 2019,a Group entity extended £316.5m of the Syndicated revolving credit facility by an additional year. The facility willnow terminate
intwo tranches:

- £316.5.0min June 2024; and
- £83.5mattheoriginal termination date of June 2023.

Thereisno change to theinterestrate payable and thereisnorequirement to settle all, or part, of the debt earlier than the termination dates
stated. The Company will continue to be a guarantor for the facility.
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Shareholder information

Registered office and headquarters
Auto Trader Group plc

4th Floor,1Tony Wilson Place
Manchester

MI154FN

United Kingdom

Registered number: 09439967

Tel: +44(0) 161669 9888

Web: autotrader.co.uk

Web: plc.autotrader.co.uk

Investor relations: ir@autotrader.co.uk

Company Secretary
Claire Baty

Joint stockbrokers

Bank of America Merrill Lynch
2King Edward Street

London

ECIATHQ

Numis Securities Limited

The London Stock Exchange Building
10 Paternoster Square

London

ECAMT7LT

Independent auditors
KPMG LLP

1St. Peter’'s Square
Manchester

M2 3AE

Registrar

Link Asset Services
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham
BR34TU

Tel UK: +44(0) 871664 0300

(calls cost12p per minute plus network extras;
linesare open9.00amto 5.30pm Monday to Friday,
excluding public holidays in England and Wales)

Telinternational: +44(0) 371664 0300
(charged at the appropriate internationalrate)

Web: linkassetservices.com
Email: enquiries@linkgroup.co.uk

Financial calendar 2019-2020

Annual General Meeting 19 September 2019
2020 Half-yearresults 7November 2019
2020 Full-yearresults 4 June 2020
Shareholder enquiries

Ourregistrars will be pleased to deal with any questions

regarding your shareholdings (see contact details in the opposite
column). Alternatively, if you have internetaccess, you canaccess
www.autotradershares.co.uk where you canview and manage all
aspects of your shareholding securely including electronic
communications,account enquiries oramendment to address.

Investor relations website

Theinvestor relations section of our website, plc.autotrader.co.uk/
investors, provides furtherinformation foranyoneinterestedin
Auto Trader. Inaddition to the Annual Report and Financial
Statements and share price, Company announcementsincluding the
full-yearresultsannouncements and associated presentations are
also published there.

Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements

Certain statements made in this Report are forward-looking
statements. Such statements are based on current expectations and
assumptionsandare subjecttoanumber of risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual events or results to differ materially fromany
expected future events orresults expressed orimpliedin these
forward-looking statements. They appearinanumber of places
throughout this Reportandinclude statementsregarding the
intentions, beliefs or current expectations of the Directors
concerning, amongst other things, the Group’s results of operations,
financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and the
business. Personsreceiving this Report should not place undue
reliance on forward-looking statements. Unless otherwise required
by applicable law, regulation oraccounting standard, Auto Trader
Group plcdoesnotundertake to update orrevise any
forward-looking statements, whether as aresult of new information,
future developments or otherwise.
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